
           
The City of Muskogee encourages participation from all its citizens in public meetings. If participation is not possible due to a disability,
notify the City Clerk, in writing, at least forty-eight hours prior to the scheduled meeting and necessary accommodations will be made (ADA
28 CFR/36).

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments on agenda items and public hearings to five (5) minutes and general comments for
non-agenda items to three (3) minutes.  Any person desiring to address the Council during such period is required to sign in with the City Clerk
prior to the Council meeting between 5:00 p.m. and 5:15 p.m. on the third floor of City Hall or anytime between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. in the
Office of the City Clerk. They shall provide their name, address and specify the agenda item they wish to address. Remarks shall be directed to
the matter being considered and the speaker is allowed to speak only one time. If written materials are to be submitted twelve (12) copies
should be made available, and may not be returned.

 

AGENDA
MUSKOGEE CITY COUNCIL

JULY 23, 2018
 
 

REGULAR SESSION -5:30 P.M., 3RD FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS MUNICIPAL BUILDING,
229 W. OKMULGEE, MUSKOGEE, OKLAHOMA

INVOCATION - COUNCILMEMBER IVORY VANN

FLAG SALUTE - MAYOR BOB COBURN

ROLL CALL - MAYOR BOB COBURN

           

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION JULY 09, 2018
 

CONSENT AGENDA
 

The following items are considered to be routine by the City Council and will not be read
aloud. The Consent Agenda will be enacted with one motion and should discussion be desired
on an item, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda prior to action and
considered separately prior to the Regular Agenda.
 
 

1. Approval of claims for all City departments June 28, 2018 through July 11, 2018.
 

2. Approval to accept the 2017 Justice Assistance Grant from the U.S. Department of Justice in
the amount of $34,514.00, or take other necessary action. (Johnny Teehee)

 

3. Approval to accept a Fire Prevention Grant in the amount of $2,500.00 from FM Global to be
used for the purchase of smoke detectors, or take other necessary action. (Mike O'Dell)

 

4. Approval of the appointment of Jaime Stout to serve a two (2) year term on the City of



4. Approval of the appointment of Jaime Stout to serve a two (2) year term on the City of
Muskogee Foundation Board, beginning September 1, 2018, and ending August 31, 2020,
replacing Dan Hall, or take other necessary action. (Councilor Dan Hall)

 

5. Approval of the appointment of Glenda Shelton to the War Memorial Trust Authority, filling
the unexpired term of Joshua Caserez, ending on April 30, 2019, or take other necessary
action. (Marlon Coleman)

 

6. Approval to award a contract in the amount of $728,807.90 to the sole bidder, Intermountain
Slurry Seal Inc., inclusive of Add Alternate Nos. 1 and 2, for the Micro Surfacing Project for
the Central Business District, or take other necessary action. (Greg Riley)

 

7. Approval of awarding the lowest and best bid to Todays Roofing for Muskogee Emergency
Management Building Roof in the amount of $243,210.16, or take other necessary action.
(Mike Stewart)

 

8. Approval of the reappointment of Jack Farr to serve a three (3) year term on the Muskogee
Housing Authority Board, beginning July 23, 2018, and ending on May 31, 2021, or take other
necessary action. (Councilor Derrick Reed)

 

REGULAR AGENDA
 

9. Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4051-A amending the City of Muskogee Code of
Ordinances, by Amending Chapter 1, General Provisions; Section 1-14, General Penalties;
Continuing Violations; Establishing Maximum Fine and Costs for Speed Limit Violations of
10 or less; Providing for Repealer, Severability and Declaring an Emergency, or take other
necessary action. (Roy D. Tucker)

 

10. Receive report from the Greater Muskogee Area Chamber of Commerce as to project status
and progress towards achieving the objectives outlined in the 2017-2018 Program of Work for
the City's tourism contract, and take any necessary action. (Mike Miller)  

 

11. Consider approval to renumber the following resolutions: "A Resolution Approving and
Adopting a Best Practices Handbook for Oklahoma Municipalities" from Resolution No. 2732
to Resolution No. 2734, as previously approved by the City Council on June 25, 2018, and "A
Resolution Authorizing Participation in the OMAG Recognition Program" from Resolution
No. 2733 to Resolution No. 2735, as previously approved by City Council on July 9, 2018, or
take other necessary action. (Roy Tucker)

 

RECOGNIZE CITIZENS WISHING TO SPEAK TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL.

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments to three (3) minutes. Any person desiring to
speak is required to sign-in with the City Clerk, provide their name, address, and the
particular issue they wish to address. Under Oklahoma law, the Council Members are
prohibited from discussing or taking any action on items not on today’s agenda. If written
materials are to be submitted to the Council twelve (12) copies should be made available, and



may not be returned.
 

12. Consider an Executive Session to discuss and take possible action on the following:
 

a. Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive
Session to discuss negotiations with the Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge No. 95, and if
necessary, take appropriate action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

 

b. Pursuant to Section 307 B.3 and C.10, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in
Executive Session to discuss the purchase of real property, as well as, to confer on matters
pertaining to an economic development project within the City of Muskogee, and if necessary,
take appropriate action in open session. (Gary D. Garvin)

 
 

ADJOURN
 



   
Regular City Council           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Initiator: Ashley Wallace, Office Adm 1
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION JULY 09, 2018

BACKGROUND:

RECOMMENDED ACTION:

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
07-09-2018 ccmin 



MINUTES
 

 
OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE,

OKLAHOMA, MET IN REGULAR SESSION, IN
THE COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF CITY HALL

MONDAY, JULY 9, 2018
 

The Council of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, met in Regular Session in Council Chambers of City
Hall, Monday, July 9, 2018, at 5:30 p.m., with Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston presiding.

Invocation was given by Councilmember Jaime Stout
 
Flag Salute was led by Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston
 
Meeting was called to order by Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston and the City Clerk called the roll as
follows:
 

Present: Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston; Councilmember Jaime Stout; Councilmember Patrick Cale;
Councilmember Marlon Coleman; Councilmember Dan Hall; Councilmember Wayne
Johnson; Councilmember Derrick Reed; Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Absent: Mayor John R. Coburn 

Staff
Present:

Mike Miller, City Manager; Mike Stewart, Assistant City Manager; Roy Tucker, City
Attorney; Tammy L. Tracy, City Clerk; Gary Garvin, City Planner; Greg Riley, Public Works
Director; Matthew Beese, Assistant City Attorney; Mark Wilkerson, Parks & Recreation
Director; Michael O'Dell, Fire Chief; Kelly Plunkett, Human Resources Director; Rex
Eskridge, Police Chief; Johnny Teehee, Deputy Police Chief; Prag Mahajan, Civil Engineer;
Marcie Gilliam, Strategic Financial Analyst 

               

Presentation of The Key to the City to retiring Police Chief Rex Eskridge, presented by Deputy
Mayor Janey Boydston.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION JUNE 25, 2018

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Marlon Coleman, seconded by Councilmember

Wayne Johnson  to approve City Council Regular Session minutes June 25, 2018. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
CONSENT AGENDA

 



  Motion was made by Councilmember Marlon Coleman, seconded by Councilmember
Wayne Johnson to approve Consent Agenda. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
The following items are considered to be routine by the City Council and will not be read
aloud. The Consent Agenda will be enacted with one motion and should discussion be desired
on an item, that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda prior to action and
considered separately prior to the Regular Agenda.
 

 
1 Approval of claims for all City departments June 14, 2018 through June 27, 2018.   
 
2 Approval of a three (3) year agreement with Kansas City Aerosports to supply ballooning

activities for the proposed Oklahoma Festival of Ballooning to be held at Hatbox Field, or
take other necessary action. (Mark Wilkerson)

  

 
3 Approval of an Amended Plat of York 1st Addition, consisting of two (2) lots on 2.22

acres, located at 100 N. York Street, or take other necessary action. (Gary D. Garvin)
  

 
REGULAR AGENDA

 
4 Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4050-A accepting the terms and conditions of

Amendment No. 5 to the Muskogee War Memorial Park Authority Trust instrument, or
take other necessary action.  (Councilor Jaime Stout) 

Councilmember Jaime Stout stated the Trustees have proposed a modification to the
method of appointment of Trustees of the Muskogee War Memorial Park Authority. 
Currently, the City Council appoints all nine (9) members of the Trust.  The proposed
modification will provide six (6) of the appointments to the City Council and three (3) of
the appointments to the sitting Trustees. The implementation of the modification will occur
with the sitting Trustee appointments being every third appointment as part of the
established Council appointment rotation beginning with the first sitting Trustees'
appointment being the next available opening.

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Jaime Stout, seconded by Councilmember Patrick

Cale to approve Ordinance No. 4050-A accepting the terms and conditions of
Amendment No. 5 to the Muskogee War Memorial Park Authority Trust instrument. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 



 
5 Receive presentation proclaiming August 7, 2018 as "National Night Out 2018," and

authorize the City's participation in the program, or take other necessary action. (Rex
Eskridge)

Police Chief Rex Eskridge stated the National Night Out Proclamation is a unique
opportunity for Muskogee to join forces with thousands of other communities across the
country in promoting cooperative, police-community crime prevention efforts.

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Patrick

Cale to approve proclaiming August 7, 2018 as "National Night Out 2018," and
authorize the City's participation in the program. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
6 Consider approval of Resolution No. 2733 authorizing participation in the Oklahoma

Mutual Assurance Group Recognition Program, or take other necessary action. (Roy D.
Tucker)

City Attorney Roy Tucker stated OMAG has prepared a model resolution for adoption
which will ensure the City receives the $10,000.00 premium rebate related to Council's
 adoption of the Best Practices Manual and Training which occurred.

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Wayne

Johnson to approve Resolution No. 2733 authorizing participation in the Oklahoma
Mutual Assurance Group Recognition Program. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
7 Consider approval to submit a BUILD grant application for the Muskogee Main Street

Connections Complete Street Project, or take other necessary action. (Greg Riley)

Public Works Director Greg Riley stated the purpose of the proposed traffic calming/road
diet project is to make the Main Street corridor more accessible to pedestrian/bicycle traffic
as well as better access to parking.  This will be accomplished by narrowing the existing
corridor from Elgin Street to Denison Avenue from four (4) through-lanes to two
(2) through-lanes with turn lanes at the intersections.  To accomplish the narrowing while
accommodating traffic, the City will be coordinating new traffic signals with each other
and the railroad to better move traffic through the corridor.  The latest signal technology
will be used and improvements to the railroad crossings will be made to allow for a more
quiet zone for train traffic.  A bike lane will be added that connects the Centennial Trail to

  



the south to new bike lanes that will be added on Denison to the north. Angled parking will
be provided along Main Street.  The entrance to the corridor from the south will begin with
a traffic circle at Elgin Street.  The completed project will result in a whole new look for
the entrance into Downtown and the Depot District, enhancing the look and feel of the
area.  The project is estimated at $2.8 million.  The City's match will be $339,000.00.  The
City has the support of the Depot District, Muskogee County, Oklahoma Department of
Transportation (ODOT), Downtown Muskogee, Railroad, Muskogee Area Cyclists,
Veteran's Administration, and the State Legislature.  This is not the acceptance of any
grant, but merely seeking Council's permission to submit an application.

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Patrick Cale, seconded by Councilmember Dan

Hall to approve a BUILD grant application for the Muskogee Main Street Connections
Complete Street Project. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
8 Consider approval of an amended lease for an extended term of twenty-five (25) years

between the City of Muskogee and the Oklahoma Department of Rehabilitation Service,
beginning on July 9, 2018, for the property commonly known as Civitan Park, or take other
necessary action. (Roy D. Tucker)

City Attorney Roy Tucker stated since at least 1968, the City of Muskogee has utilized a
parcel of property owned by the State of Oklahoma Department of Rehabilitation Services
(DRS) as the park and recreation area known as Civitan Park.  Typically, every three (3)
years, this lease comes up for renewal, however, this agreement is for a twenty-five (25)
year lease for the nominal sum of $200.00 the first year and the cost of maintenance for
subsequent years. This existing lease, executed on July 9, 2017 will expire on June 30, 2027.

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Marlon Coleman, seconded by Councilmember

Dan Hall to approve an amended lease for an extended term of twenty-five (25) years
between the City of Muskogee and the Oklahoma Department of Rehabilitation
Services, beginning on July 9, 2018, for the property commonly known as Civitan Park. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
9 Consider approval of the recommendation by the City of Muskogee Foundation Board of

Directors reappointing Earnie Gilder to serve a one (1) year term as Board Chair beginning
August 1, 2018 and ending July 31, 2019, or take other necessary action.  (Mike Miller)

City Manager Mike Miller stated per the bylaws of the City of Muskogee Foundation, the
Board Chair serves a one-year term and is recommended by the City of Muskogee

  



Foundation Board of Directors for City Council approval.

Representative of the City of Muskogee Foundation Frank Merrick, 12808 Foxforce Circle,
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma stated his name and address.

Councilmember Dan Hall asked Mr. Merrick the following:  How many years have we had
the City of Muskogee Foundation;  How many years has Earnie Gilder been on the
foundation;  How long has Earnie Gilder been Director of the City of Muskogee
Foundation;  What is the average time a Councilmember can serve on the Committee; 
What is the average time a citizen can serve on the committee?

Mr. Merrick stated the City of Muskogee Foundation has been established for ten (10)
years; Mr. Gilder has served on the Board since it's inception; and has been Director for six
(6) years; and Councilmembers can serve on the Board for two (2) years and citizens are
allowed to serve six (6) years.

Councilmember Dan Hall stated he has been receiving calls with questions as to why Mr.
Gilder has been on the Board so long.

Mr. Merrick stated if approved by City Council, this will be Mr. Gilder's final year to serve
on the Board.

Councilmember Patrick Cale stated he feels that Mr. Gilder and Mr. Merrick have done a
fanstastic job, but would encourage the Foundation to look at fresh leadership in the future.

Mr. Merrick stated with the new rotation, the chances of someone serving as the Chair on
the Foundation for six (6) years will be highly unlikely.  They would have to be elected
as Chair their first year on the board.  He feels there will be more rotation on the Board and
as Chair of the Committee.

Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston stated the City is very fortunate to have the City of
Muskogee Foundation.

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Patrick Cale, seconded by Councilmember Ivory

Vann to approve recommendation by the City of Muskogee Foundation Board of
Directors reappointing Earnie Gilder to serve a one (1) year term as Board Chair
beginning August 1, 2018 and ending July 31, 2019. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
10 Consider approval of the appointment of Julie Watson-Ledbetter to the Wellness

Initiative Coalition Board to serve a four (4) year term beginning August 1, 2018 and
ending July 31, 2022, or take other necessary action. (Mayor Bob Coburn)

  

 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Wayne Johnson, seconded by Councilmember



  Motion was made by Councilmember Wayne Johnson, seconded by Councilmember
Jaime Stout to approve the appointment of Julie Watson-Ledbetter to the Wellness
Initiative Coalition Board to serve a four (4) year term beginning August 1, 2018 and
ending July 31, 2022. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
RECOGNIZE CITIZENS WISHING TO SPEAK TO THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL.

Council Rules of Decorum limit citizen comments to three (3) minutes. Any person desiring to
speak is required to sign-in with the City Clerk, provide their name, address, and the
particular issue they wish to address. Under Oklahoma law, the Council Members are
prohibited from discussing or taking any action on items not on today’s agenda. If written
materials are to be submitted to the Council twelve (12) copies should be made available, and
may not be returned.

Alice Moschek, 1172 Walnut, Muskogee, Oklahoma, stated she feels that parking on the side of the
house should be okay as long as the yard is maintained.  Also, speaking with a paramedic she has
discovered that there are so many cars parked in the street that it is difficult for the ambulance to
get around.  She requested Mayor and Council to consider changing the Ordinance relating to this
issue. 

 
11 Consider an Executive Session to discuss and take possible action on the following:
 
  Motion was made by Councilmember Dan Hall, seconded by Councilmember Wayne

Johnson to approve an Executive Session. 

  AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember
Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall,
Councilmember Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed,
Councilmember Ivory Vann 

Carried - Unanimously 

 
a Pursuant to Section 307 B.3 and C.10, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in

Executive Session to discuss the purchase of real property, as well as to confer on matters
pertaining to economic development within the City of Muskogee, and take any necessary
action in open session including, but not limited to, authorizing solicitation of funding to
facilitate the same.  (Gary D. Garvin)

Council reconvened to regular session at 6:25 p.m.

Meeting was called to order by Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston and the City Clerk called
roll as follows:

Present:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmember Jaime Stout, Councilmember

  



Patrick Cale, Councilmember Marlon Coleman, Councilmember Dan Hall, Councilmember
Wayne Johnson, Councilmember Derrick Reed, Councilmember Ivory Vann

City Attorney Roy Tucker stated Council had been briefed on an Economic Development
proposal which includes a necessity to purchase real property as part of the enticement
plan, as well as solicit funding from outside sources. 

Motion was made by Councilmember Wayne Johnson, seconded by Councilmember
Dan Hall to approve to authorize the City Manager to negotiate and execute a real
estate purchase agreement or real estate purchase agreements for three (3) sites; 
approve Phase I and Phase II evironmental studies on said sites; authorize the
expenditure of Economic Development funding for non reoccurring expenses related
to this proposal; and authorize submission of an out-of-cycle Economic Development
Grant to the City of Muskogee Foundation for land, infrastructure, and other
incidental requirements of the proposal.

AYE:  Deputy Mayor Janey Boydston, Councilmembers; Jaime Stout, Patrick Cale,
Marlon Coleman, Dan Hall, Wayne Johnson, Derrick Reed, Ivory Vann
Carried-Unanimously

 
ADJOURN

 

__________________________________
JANEY BOYDSTON, DEPUTY MAYOR

 
 
 
 

_______________________________
TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK

 
 



   
Regular City Council 1.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Initiator: Donnie Wimbley, Purchasing Director
Department: Purchasing
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of claims for all City departments June 28, 2018 through July 11, 2018.

BACKGROUND:
Claims List for all City Departments.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve of the claims for all City Departments June 28, 2018 through July 11, 2018.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Claims List 















   
Regular City Council 2.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For:  Rex Eskridge, Police  Initiator: Chad Farmer, Deputy

Chief
Department: Police
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval to accept the 2017 Justice Assistance Grant from the U.S. Department of Justice in the amount
of $34,514.00, or take other necessary action. (Johnny Teehee)

BACKGROUND:
The Justice Assistance Grant program is a yearly award given to law enforcement jurisdictions. The
Bureau of Justice Assistance has determined that the combined jurisdictions of the City of Muskogee
and the County of Muskogee will be awarded $34,514.00. The Finance Committee (September 19,
2017) and the City Council (September 21, 2017) approved the Memorandum of Understanding to enter
into an agreement between the City of Muskogee and the Board of Commissioners of Muskogee County
for the disbursement of these funds should they be awarded and accepted. The grant was awarded on
June 26, 2018, and is awaiting acceptance. The memorandum that was approved by City Council and
the County Commissioners split the funds with the Muskogee Police Department (grantee) receiving
$17,257.00 and the Muskogee County Sheriff's Office (sub-grantee) receiving $17,257.00. The
Muskogee Police Department will handle the quarterly grant reporting.
The funding for the Muskogee Police Department will be used for the replacement of mobile data
computers for our ongoing in-car computer program. This is a non-matching grant and will not cost the
City of Muskogee any money.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the acceptance of the 2017 Justice Assistance Grant from the U.S. Department of Justice in the
amount of $35,514.00.

Fiscal Impact

FUNDING SOURCE:
This is a non-matching grant and will not require any funding from the City of Muskogee.

Attachments
2017 JAG Award 
Signed MOU Agreement 



U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Washington, D.C.  20531Office of the Assistant Attorney General

June 26, 2018

Mr. Mike Miller
City of Muskogee
PO Box 1927
Muskogee, OK 74402

Dear Mr. Miller:

On behalf of Attorney General Jefferson Sessions III, it is my pleasure to inform you that the Office of Justice Programs has 
approved your application for funding under the FY 17 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program - 
Local Solicitation in the amount of $34,514 for City of Muskogee.

Enclosed you will find the Grant Award and Special Conditions documents.  This award is subject to all administrative and 
financial requirements, including the timely submission of all financial and programmatic reports, resolution of all interim 
audit findings, and the maintenance of a minimum level of cash-on-hand.  Should you not adhere to these requirements, you 
will be in violation of the terms of this agreement and the award will be subject to termination for cause or other administrative
action as appropriate.

If you have questions regarding this award, please contact:

          -  Program Questions, Olga Santiago, Program Manager at (202) 598-1094; and

          -  Financial Questions, the Office of the Chief Financial Officer, Customer Service Center (CSC) at 
             (800) 458-0786, or you may contact the CSC at ask.ocfo@usdoj.gov.

Congratulations, and we look forward to working with you.

Sincerely, 

Enclosures 

Alan R. Hanson

Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General



U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

OFFICE FOR CIVIL RIGHTS

810 7th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20531

Tel: (202) 307-0690
TTY: (202) 307-2027
E-mail: askOCR@usdoj.gov
Website: www.ojp.usdoj.gov/ocr

June 26, 2018

Mr. Mike Miller
City of Muskogee
PO Box 1927
Muskogee, OK 74402

Congratulations on your recent award.  In establishing financial assistance programs, Congress linked the receipt of federal funding to 
compliance with federal civil rights laws.  The Office for Civil Rights (OCR), Office of Justice Programs (OJP), U.S. Department of Justice 
(DOJ) is responsible for ensuring that recipients of financial assistance from the OJP, the Office of Community Oriented Policing Services 
(COPS), and the Office on Violence Against Women (OVW) comply with the applicable federal civil rights laws.  We at the OCR are 
available to help you and your organization meet the civil rights requirements that come with DOJ funding.

Ensuring Access to Federally Assisted Programs 

Federal laws that apply to recipients of financial assistance from the DOJ prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, 
religion, sex, or disability in funded programs or activities, not only in employment but also in the delivery of services or benefits.  A federal
law also prohibits recipients from discriminating on the basis of age in the delivery of services or benefits.   

In March of 2013, President Obama signed the Violence Against Women Reauthorization Act of 2013.  The statute amends the Violence 
Against Women Act of 1994 (VAWA) by including a nondiscrimination grant condition that prohibits discrimination based on actual or 
perceived race, color, national origin, religion, sex, disability, sexual orientation, or gender identity.  The new nondiscrimination grant 
condition applies to certain programs funded after October 1, 2013.  The OCR and the OVW have developed answers to some frequently 
asked questions about this provision to assist recipients of VAWA funds to understand their obligations.  The Frequently Asked Questions 
are available at http://ojp.gov/about/ocr/vawafaqs.htm. 

Enforcing Civil Rights Laws 

All recipients of federal financial assistance, regardless of the particular funding source, the amount of the grant award, or the number of 
employees in the workforce, are subject to prohibitions against unlawful discrimination.  Accordingly, the OCR investigates recipients that 
are the subject of discrimination complaints from both individuals and groups.  In addition, based on regulatory criteria, the OCR selects a 
number of recipients each year for compliance reviews, audits that require recipients to submit data showing that they are providing services 
equitably to all segments of their service population and that their employment practices meet equal opportunity standards. 

Dear Mr. Miller:



Providing Services to Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Individuals 

In accordance with DOJ guidance pertaining to Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, recipients of federal financial 
assistance must take reasonable steps to provide meaningful access to their programs and activities for persons with limited English 
proficiency (LEP).  See U.S. Department of Justice, Guidance to Federal Financial Assistance Recipients Regarding Title VI Prohibition 
Against National Origin Discrimination Affecting Limited English Proficient Persons, 67 Fed. Reg. 41,455 (2002).  For more information 
on the civil rights responsibilities that recipients have in providing language services to LEP individuals, please see the website 
http://www.lep.gov. 

Ensuring Equal Treatment for Faith-Based Organizations 

The DOJ regulation, Equal Treatment for Faith-Based Organizations, 28 C.F.R. pt. 38, requires State Administering Agencies (SAAs) to 
treat faith-based organizations the same as any other applicant or recipient.  The regulation prohibits SAAs from making awards or grant 
administration decisions on the basis of an organization's religious character or affiliation, religious name, or the religious composition of its
board of directors. 

The regulation also prohibits faith-based organizations from using financial assistance from the DOJ to fund inherently (or explicitly) 
religious activities.  While faith-based organizations can engage in non-funded inherently religious activities, they must hold them 
separately from the program funded by the DOJ, and recipients cannot compel beneficiaries to participate in them.  The Equal Treatment 
Regulation also makes clear that organizations participating in programs funded by the DOJ are not permitted to discriminate in the 
provision of services on the basis of a beneficiary's religion.  For more information on the regulation, please see the OCR's website at 
http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/ocr/equal_fbo.htm. 

SAAs and faith-based organizations should also note that the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act (Safe Streets Act) of 1968, as 
amended, 42 U.S.C. § 3789d(c); the Victims of Crime Act of 1984, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 10604(e); the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency
Prevention Act of 1974, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 5672(b); and VAWA, Pub. L. No. 113-4, sec. 3(b)(4), 127 Stat. 54, 61-62 (to be codified 
at 42 U.S.C. § 13925(b)(13)) contain prohibitions against discrimination on the basis of religion in employment.  Despite these 
nondiscrimination provisions, the DOJ has concluded that it may construe the Religious Freedom Restoration Act (RFRA) on a case-by-
case basis to permit some faith-based organizations to receive DOJ funds while taking into account religion when hiring staff, even if the 
statute that authorizes the funding program generally forbids recipients from considering religion in employment decisions. 
Please consult with the OCR if you have any questions about the regulation or the application of RFRA to the statutes that prohibit 
discrimination in employment. 

Using Arrest and Conviction Records in Making Employment Decisions

The OCR issued an advisory document for recipients on the proper use of arrest and conviction records in making hiring decisions.  See 
Advisory for Recipients of Financial Assistance from the U.S. Department of Justice on the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity 
Commission's Enforcement Guidance: Consideration of Arrest and Conviction Records in Employment Decisions Under Title VII of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964 (June 2013), available at http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov//about/ocr/pdfs/UseofConviction_Advisory.pdf.  Recipients 
should be mindful that the misuse of arrest or conviction records to screen either applicants for employment or employees for retention or 
promotion may have a disparate impact based on race or national origin, resulting in unlawful employment discrimination.  In light of the 
Advisory, recipients should consult local counsel in reviewing their employment practices.  If warranted, recipients should also incorporate 
an analysis of the use of arrest and conviction records in their Equal Employment Opportunity Plans (EEOPs) (see below).

Complying with the Safe Streets Act 

An organization that is a recipient of financial assistance subject to the nondiscrimination provisions of the Safe Streets Act, must meet two 
obligations: (1) complying with the federal regulation pertaining to the development of an EEOP (see 28 C.F.R. pt. 42, subpt. E) and (2) 
submitting to the OCR findings of discrimination (see 28 C.F.R. §§ 42.204(c), .205(c)(5)). 



Sincerely,

          Meeting the EEOP Requirement 

If your organization has less than fifty employees or receives an award of less than $25,000 or is a nonprofit organization, a medical 
institution, an educational institution, or an Indian tribe, then it is exempt from the EEOP requirement.  To claim the exemption, your 
organization must complete and submit Section A of the Certification Form, which is available online at 
http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.

If your organization is a government agency or private business and receives an award of $25,000 or more, but less than $500,000, and has 
fifty or more employees (counting both full- and part-time employees but excluding political appointees), then it has to prepare a 
Utilization Report (formerly called an EEOP Short Form), but it does not have to submit the report to the OCR for review.  Instead, your 
organization has to maintain the Utilization Report on file and make it available for review on request.  In addition, your organization has to 
complete Section B of the Certification Form and return it to the OCR.  The Certification Form is available at 
http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.  

If your organization is a government agency or private business and has received an award for $500,000 or more and has fifty or more 
employees (counting both full- and part-time employees but excluding political appointees), then it has to prepare a Utilization Report 
(formerly called an EEOP Short Form) and submit it to the OCR for review within sixty days from the date of this letter.  For assistance in 
developing a Utilization Report, please consult the OCR's website at http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/ocr/eeop.htm.  In addition, your 
organization has to complete Section C of the Certification Form and return it to the OCR.  The Certification Form is available at 
http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/about/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf. 

To comply with the EEOP requirements, you may request technical assistance from an EEOP specialist at the OCR by telephone at (202) 
307-0690, by TTY at (202) 307-2027, or by e-mail at EEOsubmisson@usdoj.gov.

          Meeting the Requirement to Submit Findings of Discrimination

If in the three years prior to the date of the grant award, your organization has received an adverse finding of discrimination based on race, 
color, national origin, religion, or sex, after a due-process hearing, from a state or federal court or from a state or federal administrative 
agency, your organization must send a copy of the finding to the OCR.

Ensuring the Compliance of Subrecipients

SAAs must have standard assurances to notify subrecipients of their civil rights obligations, written procedures to address discrimination 
complaints filed against subrecipients, methods to monitor subrecipients' compliance with civil rights requirements, and a program to train 
subrecipients on applicable civil rights laws.  In addition, SAAs must submit to the OCR every three years written Methods of 
Administration (MOA) that summarize the policies and procedures that they have implemented to ensure the civil rights compliance of 
subrecipients.  For more information on the MOA requirement, see http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/funding/other_requirements.htm.

If the OCR can assist you in any way in fulfilling your organization's civil rights responsibilities as a recipient of federal financial 
assistance, please contact us.

Michael L. Alston

Director

cc: Grant Manager
Financial Analyst



Grant
PAGE 1 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

1. RECIPIENT NAME AND ADDRESS (Including Zip Code)

City of Muskogee
PO Box 1927
Muskogee, OK 74402

8. SUPPLEMENT NUMBER

00

9. PREVIOUS AWARD AMOUNT

10. AMOUNT OF THIS AWARD

 $ 0

 $ 34,514

11. TOTAL AWARD  $ 34,514

2a. GRANTEE IRS/VENDOR NO.

736005340

2b. GRANTEE DUNS NO.

620224634

3. PROJECT TITLE

Muskogee City and Muskogee County FY17 JAG 

12. SPECIAL CONDITIONS

THE ABOVE GRANT PROJECT IS APPROVED SUBJECT TO SUCH CONDITIONS OR LIMITATIONS AS ARE SET FORTH
ON THE ATTACHED PAGE(S).

13. STATUTORY AUTHORITY FOR GRANT

This project is supported under FY17(BJA - JAG State and JAG Local) Title I of Pub. L. No. 90-351 (generally codified at 42 U.S.C. 3711 - 3797ff-5), 
including subpart 1 of part E (codified at 42 U.S.C. 3750 - 3758); see also 28 U.S.C. 530C(a).

14 . CATALOG OF DOMESTIC FEDERAL ASSISTANCE (CFDA Number) 

16.738 - Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program

15. METHOD OF PAYMENT

GPRS

AGENCY APPROVAL

16. TYPED NAME AND TITLE OF APPROVING OFFICIAL

GRANTEE ACCEPTANCE                                                                                

Alan R. Hanson

Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General

AGENCY USE ONLY

20. ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATION CODES 21. 

FISCAL
YEAR

FUND
CODE

BUD.
ACT. OFC.

DIV.
REG. SUB. POMS AMOUNT

                                                                                                            

DJBX 80 00 00 34514

SDJUGT1517

                                          

18. TYPED NAME AND TITLE OF AUTHORIZED GRANTEE OFFICIAL

Mike Miller
City Manager

                                          

4. AWARD NUMBER: 2017-DJ-BX-0638

5. PROJECT PERIOD: FROM

BUDGET PERIOD: FROM

6. AWARD DATE 7. ACTION

Initial

06/26/2018

TO

TO

10/01/2016

10/01/2016

09/30/2020

09/30/2020

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 5-87) PREVIOUS EDITIONS ARE OBSOLETE.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

19. SIGNATURE OF AUTHORIZED RECIPIENT OFFICIAL 19A. DATE17. SIGNATURE OF APPROVING OFFICIAL

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 2 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Requirements of the award; remedies for non-compliance or for materially false statements

The conditions of this award are material requirements of the award.  Compliance with any certifications or assurances 
submitted by or on behalf of the recipient that relate to conduct during the period of performance also is a material 
requirement of this award.

Failure to comply with any one or more of these award requirements -- whether a condition set out in full below, a 
condition incorporated by reference below, or a certification or assurance related to conduct during the award period --
may result in the Office of Justice Programs ("OJP") taking appropriate action with respect to the recipient and the 
award.  Among other things, the OJP may withhold award funds, disallow costs, or suspend or terminate the award.  
The Department of Justice ("DOJ"), including OJP, also may take other legal action as appropriate.

Any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement to the federal government related to this award (or concealment 
or omission of a material fact) may be the subject of criminal prosecution (including under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or 1621,
and/or 42 U.S.C. 3795a), and also may lead to imposition of civil penalties and administrative remedies for false claims 
or otherwise (including under 31 U.S.C. 3729-3730 and 3801-3812).

Should any provision of a requirement of this award be held to be invalid or unenforceable by its terms, that provision 
shall first be applied with a limited construction so as to give it the maximum effect permitted by law.  Should it be 
held, instead, that the provision is utterly invalid or -unenforceable, such provision shall be deemed severable from this
award.

Applicability of Part 200 Uniform Requirements

The Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements in 2 C.F.R. Part 200, as adopted 
and supplemented by DOJ in 2 C.F.R. Part 2800 (together, the "Part 200 Uniform Requirements") apply to this FY 
2017 award from OJP.

The Part 200 Uniform Requirements were first adopted by DOJ on December 26, 2014.  If this FY 2017 award 
supplements funds previously awarded by OJP under the same award number (e.g., funds awarded during or before 
December 2014), the Part 200 Uniform Requirements apply with respect to all funds under that award number 
(regardless of the award date, and regardless of whether derived from the initial award or a supplemental award) that 
are obligated on or after the acceptance date of this FY 2017 award.

For more information and resources on the Part 200 Uniform Requirements as they relate to OJP awards and subawards
("subgrants"), see the OJP website at https://ojp.gov/funding/Part200UniformRequirements.htm.

In the event that an award-related question arises from documents or other materials prepared or distributed by OJP 
that may appear to conflict with, or differ in some way from, the provisions of the Part 200 Uniform Requirements, the 
recipient is to contact OJP promptly for clarification.

Compliance with DOJ Grants Financial Guide

The recipient agrees to comply with the DOJ Grants Financial Guide as posted on the OJP website (currently, the "2015
DOJ Grants Financial Guide" available at https://ojp.gov/financialguide/DOJ/index.htm), including any updated version 
that may be posted during the period of performance.

1.

2.

3.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 3 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Required training for Point of Contact and all Financial Points of Contact

Both the Point of Contact (POC) and all Financial Points of Contact (FPOCs) for this award must have successfully 
completed an "OJP financial management and grant administration training" by 120 days after the date of the 
recipient's acceptance of the award.  Successful completion of such a training on or after January 1, 2015, will satisfy 
this condition.

In the event that either the POC or an FPOC for this award changes during the period of performance, the new POC or 
FPOC must have successfully completed an "OJP financial management and grant administration training" by 120 
calendar days after-- (1) the date of OJP's approval of the "Change Grantee Contact" GAN (in the case of a new 
POC), or (2) the date the POC enters information on the new FPOC in GMS (in the case of a new FPOC).  Successful 
completion of such a training on or after January 1, 2015, will satisfy this condition.

A list of OJP trainings that OJP will consider "OJP financial management and grant administration training" for 
purposes of this condition is available at https://www.ojp.gov/training/fmts.htm.  All trainings that satisfy this condition 
include a session on grant fraud prevention and detection.

The recipient should anticipate that OJP will immediately withhold ("freeze") award funds if the recipient fails to 
comply with this condition.  The recipient's failure to comply also may lead OJP to impose additional appropriate 
conditions on this award.

Requirements related to "de minimis" indirect cost rate

A recipient that is eligible under the Part 200 Uniform Requirements and other applicable law to use the "de minimis" 
indirect cost rate described in 2 C.F.R. 200.414(f), and that elects to use the "de minimis" indirect cost rate, must advise
OJP in writing of both its eligibility and its election, and must comply with all associated requirements in the Part 200 
Uniform Requirements.  The "de minimis" rate may be applied only to modified total direct costs (MTDC) as defined 
by the Part 200 Uniform Requirements.

Requirement to report potentially duplicative funding

If the recipient currently has other active awards of federal funds, or if the recipient receives any other award of federal 
funds during the period of performance for this award, the recipient promptly must determine whether funds from any 
of those other federal awards have been, are being, or are to be used (in whole or in part) for one or more of the 
identical cost items for which funds are provided under this award.  If so, the recipient must promptly notify the DOJ 
awarding agency (OJP or OVW, as appropriate) in writing of the potential duplication, and, if so requested by the DOJ 
awarding agency, must seek a budget-modification or change-of-project-scope grant adjustment notice (GAN) to 
eliminate any inappropriate duplication of funding.

4.

5.

6.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 4 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Requirements related to System for Award Management and Universal Identifier Requirements

The recipient must comply with applicable requirements regarding the System for Award Management (SAM), 
currently accessible at https://www.sam.gov/.  This includes applicable requirements regarding registration with SAM, 
as well as maintaining the currency of information in SAM.

The recipient also must comply with applicable restrictions on subawards ("subgrants") to first-tier subrecipients 
(first-tier "subgrantees"), including restrictions on subawards to entities that do not acquire and provide (to the 
recipient) the unique entity identifier required for SAM registration.

The details of the recipient's obligations related to SAM and to unique entity identifiers are posted on the OJP web site 
at https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/SAM.htm (Award condition:  System for Award Management (SAM) and Universal 
Identifier Requirements), and are incorporated by reference here.

This condition does not apply to an award to an individual who received the award as a natural person (i.e., unrelated to
any business or non-profit organization that he or she may own or operate in his or her name).

All subawards ("subgrants") must have specific federal authorization

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements for 
authorization of any subaward.  This condition applies to agreements that -- for purposes of federal grants 
administrative requirements -- OJP considers a "subaward" (and therefore does not consider a procurement 
"contract").

The details of the requirement for authorization of any subaward are posted on the OJP web site at 
https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/SubawardAuthorization.htm (Award condition:  All subawards ("subgrants") must have 
specific federal authorization), and are incorporated by reference here.

Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in any procurement contract that would 
exceed $150,000

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements to obtain 
specific advance approval to use a noncompetitive approach in any procurement contract that would exceed the 
Simplified Acquisition Threshold (currently, $150,000).  This condition applies to agreements that -- for purposes of 
federal grants administrative requirements -- OJP considers a procurement "contract" (and therefore does not consider 
a subaward).

The details of the requirement for advance approval to use a noncompetitive approach in a procurement contract under 
an OJP award are posted on the OJP web site at https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/NoncompetitiveProcurement.htm 
(Award condition:  Specific post-award approval required to use a noncompetitive approach in a procurement contract 
(if contract would exceed $150,000)), and are incorporated by reference here.

7.

8.

9.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 5 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Requirements pertaining to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons (including reporting requirements and 
OJP authority to terminate award)

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements (including 
requirements to report allegations) pertaining to prohibited conduct related to the trafficking of persons, whether on the 
part of recipients, subrecipients ("subgrantees"), or individuals defined (for purposes of this condition) as "employees" 
of the recipient or of any subrecipient.

The details of the recipient's obligations related to prohibited conduct related to trafficking in persons are posted on the 
OJP web site at https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/ProhibitedConduct-Trafficking.htm (Award condition:  Prohibited 
conduct by recipients and subrecipients related to trafficking in persons (including reporting requirements and OJP 
authority to terminate award)), and are incorporated by reference here.

Compliance with applicable rules regarding approval, planning, and reporting of conferences, meetings, trainings, and 
other events

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable laws, regulations, 
policies, and official DOJ guidance (including specific cost limits, prior approval and reporting requirements, where 
applicable) governing the use of federal funds for expenses related to conferences (as that term is defined by DOJ), 
including the provision of food and/or beverages at such conferences, and costs of attendance at such conferences.

Information on the pertinent DOJ definition of conferences and the rules applicable to this award appears in the DOJ 
Grants Financial Guide (currently, as section 3.10 of "Postaward Requirements" in the "2015 DOJ Grants Financial 
Guide").

Requirement for data on performance and effectiveness under the award

The recipient must collect and maintain data that measure the performance and effectiveness of work under this award. 
The data must be provided to OJP in the manner (including within the timeframes) specified by OJP in the program 
solicitation or other applicable written guidance.  Data collection supports compliance with the Government 
Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and the GPRA Modernization Act of 2010, and other applicable laws.

OJP Training Guiding Principles

Any training or training materials that the recipient -- or any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier -- develops or 
delivers with OJP award funds must adhere to the OJP Training Guiding Principles for Grantees and Subgrantees, 
available at https://ojp.gov/funding/ojptrainingguidingprinciples.htm.

Effect of failure to address audit issues

The recipient understands and agrees that the DOJ awarding agency (OJP or OVW, as appropriate) may withhold 
award funds, or may impose other related requirements, if (as determined by the DOJ awarding agency) the recipient 
does not satisfactorily and promptly address outstanding issues from audits required by the Part 200 Uniform 
Requirements (or by the terms of this award), or other outstanding issues that arise in connection with audits, 
investigations, or reviews of DOJ awards.

Potential imposition of additional requirements

The recipient agrees to comply with any additional requirements that may be imposed by the DOJ awarding agency 
(OJP or OVW, as appropriate) during the period of performance for this award, if the recipient is designated as "high-
risk" for purposes of the DOJ high-risk grantee list.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 6 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination - 28 C.F.R. Part 42

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements of 28 
C.F.R. Part 42, specifically including any applicable requirements in Subpart E of 28 C.F.R. Part 42 that relate to an 
equal employment opportunity program.

Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination - 28 C.F.R. Part 54

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements of 28 
C.F.R. Part 54, which relates to nondiscrimination on the basis of sex in certain "education programs."

Compliance with DOJ regulations pertaining to civil rights and nondiscrimination - 28 C.F.R. Part 38

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable requirements of 28 
C.F.R. Part 38, specifically including any applicable requirements regarding written notice to program beneficiaries and
prospective program beneficiaries.  Part 38 of 28 C.F.R., a DOJ regulation, was amended effective May 4, 2016.

Among other things, 28 C.F.R. Part 38 includes rules that prohibit specific forms of discrimination on the basis of 
religion, a religious belief, a refusal to hold a religious belief, or refusal to attend or participate in a religious practice.  
Part 38 also sets out rules and requirements that pertain to recipient and subrecipient ("subgrantee") organizations that 
engage in or conduct explicitly religious activities, as well as rules and requirements that pertain to recipients and 
subrecipients that are faith-based or religious organizations.

The text of the regulation, now entitled "Partnerships with Faith-Based and Other Neighborhood Organizations," is 
available via the Electronic Code of Federal Regulations (currently accessible at https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-
bin/ECFR?page=browse), by browsing to Title 28-Judicial Administration, Chapter 1, Part 38, under e-CFR "current" 
data.

Restrictions on "lobbying"

In general, as a matter of federal law, federal funds awarded by OJP may not be used by the recipient, or any 
subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, either directly or indirectly, to support or oppose the enactment, repeal, 
modification, or adoption of any law, regulation, or policy, at any level of government.  See 18 U.S.C. 1913.  (There 
may be exceptions if an applicable federal statute specifically authorizes certain activities that otherwise would be 
barred by law.)

Another federal law generally prohibits federal funds awarded by OJP from being used by the recipient, or any 
subrecipient at any tier, to pay any person to influence (or attempt to influence) a federal agency, a Member of 
Congress, or Congress (or an official or employee of any of them) with respect to the awarding of a federal grant or 
cooperative agreement, subgrant, contract, subcontract, or loan, or with respect to actions such as renewing, extending, 
or modifying any such award.  See 31 U.S.C. 1352.  Certain exceptions to this law apply, including an exception that 
applies to Indian tribes and tribal organizations.

Should any question arise as to whether a particular use of federal funds by a recipient (or subrecipient) would or might
fall within the scope of these prohibitions, the recipient is to contact OJP for guidance, and may not proceed without the
express prior written approval of OJP.

16.

17.

18.

19.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 7 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Compliance with general appropriations-law restrictions on the use of federal funds (FY 2017)

The recipient, and any subrecipient ("subgrantee") at any tier, must comply with all applicable restrictions on the use of
federal funds set out in federal appropriations statutes.  Pertinent restrictions, including from various "general 
provisions" in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2017, are set out at 
https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/FY17AppropriationsRestrictions.htm, and are incorporated by reference here.

Should a question arise as to whether a particular use of federal funds by a recipient (or a subrecipient) would or might 
fall within the scope of an appropriations-law restriction, the recipient is to contact OJP for guidance, and may not 
proceed without the express prior written approval of OJP.

Reporting potential fraud, waste, and abuse, and similar misconduct

The recipient, and any subrecipients ("subgrantees") at any tier, must promptly refer to the DOJ Office of the Inspector 
General (OIG) any credible evidence that a principal, employee, agent, subrecipient, contractor, subcontractor, or other 
person has, in connection with funds under this award-- (1) submitted a claim that violates the False Claims Act; or (2)
committed a criminal or civil violation of laws pertaining to fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar 
misconduct.

Potential fraud, waste, abuse, or misconduct involving or relating to funds under this award should be reported to the 
OIG by-- (1) mail directed to: Office of the Inspector General, U.S. Department of Justice, Investigations Division, 
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. Room 4706, Washington, DC 20530; (2) e-mail to: oig.hotline@usdoj.gov; and/or (3)
the DOJ OIG hotline: (contact information in English and Spanish) at (800) 869-4499 (phone) or (202) 616-9881 
(fax).

Additional information is available from the DOJ OIG website at https://www.usdoj.gov/oig.

20.

21.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 8 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Restrictions and certifications regarding non-disclosure agreements and related matters

No recipient or subrecipient ("subgrantee") under this award, or entity that receives a procurement contract or 
subcontract with any funds under this award, may require any employee or contractor to sign an internal confidentiality 
agreement or statement that prohibits or otherwise restricts, or purports to prohibit or restrict, the reporting (in 
accordance with law) of waste, fraud, or abuse to an investigative or law enforcement representative of a federal 
department or agency authorized to receive such information.

The foregoing is not intended, and shall not be understood by the agency making this award, to contravene 
requirements applicable to Standard Form 312 (which relates to classified information), Form 4414 (which relates to 
sensitive compartmented information), or any other form issued by a federal department or agency governing the 
nondisclosure of classified information.

1.  In accepting this award, the recipient--

a.  represents that it neither requires nor has required internal confidentiality agreements or statements from employees 
or contractors that currently prohibit or otherwise currently restrict (or purport to prohibit or restrict) employees or 
contractors from reporting waste, fraud, or abuse as described above; and

b.  certifies that, if it learns or is notified that it is or has been requiring its employees or contractors to execute 
agreements or statements that prohibit or otherwise restrict (or purport to prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, 
or abuse as described above, it will immediately stop any further obligations of award funds, will provide prompt 
written notification to the federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit resumption of) such 
obligations only if expressly authorized to do so by that agency.

2.  If the recipient does or is authorized under this award to make subawards ("subgrants"), procurement contracts, or 
both--

a.  it represents that--

(1)  it has determined that no other entity that the recipient's application proposes may or will receive award funds 
(whether through a subaward ("subgrant"), procurement contract, or subcontract under a procurement contract) either 
requires or has required internal confidentiality agreements or statements from employees or contractors that currently 
prohibit or otherwise currently restrict (or purport to prohibit or restrict) employees or contractors from reporting waste,
fraud, or abuse as described above; and

(2)  it has made appropriate inquiry, or otherwise has an adequate factual basis, to support this representation; and

b.  it certifies that, if it learns or is notified that any subrecipient, contractor, or subcontractor entity that receives funds 
under this award is or has been requiring its employees or contractors to execute agreements or statements that prohibit 
or otherwise restrict (or purport to prohibit or restrict), reporting of waste, fraud, or abuse as described above, it will 
immediately stop any further obligations of award funds to or by that entity, will provide prompt written notification to 
the federal agency making this award, and will resume (or permit resumption of) such obligations only if expressly 
authorized to do so by that agency.

22.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 9 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Compliance with 41 U.S.C. 4712 (including prohibitions on reprisal; notice to employees)

The recipient (and any subrecipient at any tier) must comply with, and is subject to, all applicable provisions of 41 
U.S.C. 4712, including all applicable provisions that prohibit, under specified circumstances, discrimination against an 
employee as reprisal for the employee's disclosure of information related to gross mismanagement of a federal grant, a 
gross waste of federal funds, an abuse of authority relating to a federal grant, a substantial and specific danger to public 
health or safety, or a violation of law, rule, or regulation related to a federal grant.

The recipient also must inform its employees, in writing (and in the predominant native language of the workforce), of 
employee rights and remedies under 41 U.S.C. 4712.

Should a question arise as to the applicability of the provisions of 41 U.S.C. 4712 to this award, the recipient is to 
contact the DOJ awarding agency (OJP or OVW, as appropriate) for guidance.

Encouragement of policies to ban text messaging while driving

Pursuant to Executive Order 13513, "Federal Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While Driving," 74 Fed. Reg. 
51225 (October 1, 2009), DOJ encourages recipients and subrecipients ("subgrantees") to adopt and enforce policies 
banning employees from text messaging while driving any vehicle during the course of performing work funded by this
award, and to establish workplace safety policies and conduct education, awareness, and other outreach to decrease 
crashes caused by distracted drivers.

Cooperating with OJP Monitoring



The recipient agrees to cooperate with OJP monitoring of this award pursuant to OJP's guidelines, protocols, and 
procedures, and to cooperate with OJP (including the grant manager for this award and the Office of Chief Financial 
Officer (OCFO)) requests related to such monitoring, including requests related to desk reviews and/or site visits.  The 
recipient agrees to provide to OJP all documentation necessary for OJP to complete its monitoring tasks, including 
documentation related to any subawards made under this award.  Further, the recipient agrees to abide by reasonable 
deadlines set by OJP for providing the requested documents.  Failure to cooperate with OJP's monitoring activities may
result in actions that affect the recipient's DOJ awards, including, but not limited to: withholdings and/or other 
restrictions on the recipient's access to award funds; referral to the DOJ OIG for audit review; designation of the 
recipient as a DOJ High Risk grantee; or termination of an award(s).

FFATA reporting:  Subawards and executive compensation



The recipient must comply with applicable requirements to report first-tier subawards ("subgrants") of $25,000 or 
more and, in certain circumstances, to report the names and total compensation of the five most highly compensated 
executives of the recipient and first-tier subrecipients (first-tier "subgrantees") of award funds.  The details of recipient
obligations, which derive from the Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 (FFATA), are posted
on the OJP web site at https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/FFATA.htm (Award condition: Reporting Subawards and 
Executive Compensation), and are incorporated by reference here.

 

This condition, including its reporting requirement, does not apply to-- (1) an award of less than $25,000, or (2) an 
award made to an individual who received the award as a natural person (i.e., unrelated to any business or non-profit 
organization that he or she may own or operate in his or her name).

23.

24.

25.

26.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 10 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Use of program income



Program income (as defined in the Part 200 Uniform Requirements) must be used in accordance with the provisions of 
the Part 200 Uniform Requirements.  Program income earnings and expenditures both must be reported on the quarterly
Federal Financial Report, SF 425.

Justice Information Sharing



In order to promote information sharing and enable interoperability among disparate systems across the justice and 
public safety community, the recipient (and any subrecipient at any tier)  must comply with DOJ's Global Justice 
Information Sharing Initiative (DOJ's Global) guidelines and recommendations for this particular award. The recipient 
shall conform to the Global Standards Package (GSP) and all constituent elements, where applicable, as described at: 
https://it.ojp.gov/gsp_grantcondition. The recipient shall document planned approaches to information sharing and 
describe compliance to the GSP and appropriate privacy policy that protects shared information, or provide detailed 
justification for why an alternative approach is recommended.

Avoidance of duplication of networks



To avoid duplicating existing networks or IT systems in any initiatives funded by BJA for law enforcement information
sharing systems which involve interstate connectivity between jurisdictions, such systems shall employ, to the extent 
possible, existing networks as the communication backbone to achieve interstate connectivity, unless the recipient can 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of BJA that this requirement would not be cost effective or would impair the 
functionality of an existing or proposed IT system.

Compliance with 28 C.F.R. Part 23



With respect to any information technology system funded or supported by funds under this award, the recipient (and 
any subrecipient at any tier) must comply with 28 C.F.R. Part 23, Criminal Intelligence Systems Operating Policies, if 
OJP determines this regulation to be applicable. Should OJP determine 28 C.F.R. Part 23 to be applicable, OJP may, at 
its discretion, perform audits of the system, as per the regulation. Should any violation of 28 C.F.R. Part 23 occur, the 
recipient may be fined as per 42 U.S.C. 3789g(c)-(d).  The recipient may not satisfy such a fine with federal funds.

Protection of human research subjects 



The recipient (and any subrecipient at any tier) must comply with the requirements of 28 C.F.R. Part 46 and all OJP 
policies and procedures regarding the protection of human research subjects, including obtainment of Institutional 
Review Board approval, if appropriate, and subject informed consent.

Confidentiality of data

 

The recipient (and any subrecipient at any tier) must comply with all confidentiality requirements of 42 U.S.C. 3789g 
and 28 C.F.R. Part 22 that are applicable to collection, use, and revelation of data or information. The recipient further 
agrees, as a condition of award approval, to submit a Privacy Certificate that is in accord with requirements of 28 
C.F.R. Part 22 and, in particular, 28 C.F.R. 22.23.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 11 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Verification and updating of recipient contact information



The recipient must verify its Point of Contact(POC), Financial Point of Contact (FPOC), and Authorized 
Representative contact information in GMS, including telephone number and e-mail address.  If any information is 
incorrect or has changed, a Grant Adjustment Notice (GAN) must be submitted via the Grants Management System 
(GMS) to document changes.

Law enforcement task forces - required training



Within 120 days of award acceptance, each current member of a law enforcement task force funded with award funds 
who is a task force commander, agency executive, task force officer, or other task force member of equivalent rank, 
must complete required online (internet-based) task force training. Additionally, all future task force members must 
complete this training once during the period of performance for this award, or once every four years if multiple OJP 
awards include this requirement. 



The required training is available free of charge online through the BJA-funded Center for Task Force Integrity and 
Leadership (www.ctfli.org). The training addresses task force effectiveness, as well as other key issues including 
privacy and civil liberties/rights, task force performance measurement, personnel selection, and task force oversight and
accountability. If award funds are used to support a task force, the recipient must compile and maintain a task force 
personnel roster, along with course completion certificates.



Additional information regarding the training is available through BJA's web site and the Center for Task Force 
Integrity and Leadership (www.ctfli.org).

Required attendance at BJA-sponsored events

 

The recipient (and its subrecipients at any tier) must participate in BJA-sponsored training events, technical assistance 
events, or conferences held by BJA or its designees, upon BJA's request.

Justification of consultant rate



Approval of this award does not indicate approval of any consultant rate in excess of $650 per day. A detailed 
justification must be submitted to and approved by the OJP program office prior to obligation or expenditure of such 
funds.

33.

34.

35.

36.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 12 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Compliance with National Environmental Policy Act and related statutes 



Upon request, the recipient (and any subrecipient at any tier) must assist BJA in complying with the National 
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), the National Historic Preservation Act, and other related federal environmental 
impact analyses requirements in the use of these award funds, either directly by the recipient or by a subrecipient. 
Accordingly, the recipient agrees to first determine if any of the following activities will be funded by the grant, prior 
to obligating funds for any of these purposes. If it is determined that any of the following activities will be funded by 
the award, the recipient agrees to contact BJA. 



The recipient understands that this condition applies to new activities as set out below, whether or not they are being 
specifically funded with these award funds. That is, as long as the activity is being conducted by the recipient, a 
subrecipient, or any third party, and the activity needs to be undertaken in order to use these award funds, this condition
must first be met. The activities covered by this condition are: 



a. New construction; 



b. Minor renovation or remodeling of a property located in an environmentally or historically sensitive area, including 
properties located within a 100-year flood plain, a wetland, or habitat for endangered species, or a property listed on or 
eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places; 



c. A renovation, lease, or any proposed use of a building or facility that will either (a) result in a change in its basic 
prior use or (b) significantly change its size; 



d. Implementation of a new program involving the use of chemicals other than chemicals that are (a) purchased as an 
incidental component of a funded activity and (b) traditionally used, for example, in office, household, recreational, or 
education environments; and 



e. Implementation of a program relating to clandestine methamphetamine laboratory operations, including the 
identification, seizure, or closure of clandestine methamphetamine laboratories. 



The recipient understands and agrees that complying with NEPA may require the preparation of an Environmental 
Assessment and/or an Environmental Impact Statement, as directed by BJA. The recipient further understands and 
agrees to the requirements for implementation of a Mitigation Plan, as detailed at https://bja.gov/Funding/nepa.html, for 
programs relating to methamphetamine laboratory operations. 



Application of This Condition to Recipient's Existing Programs or Activities:  For any of the recipient's or its 
subrecipients' existing programs or activities that will be funded by these award funds, the recipient, upon specific 
request from BJA, agrees to cooperate with BJA in any preparation by BJA of a national or program environmental 
assessment of that funded program or activity.

Establishment of trust fund



If award funds are being drawn down in advance, the recipient (or a subrecipient, with respect to a subaward) is 
required to establish a trust fund account. (The trust fund may or may not be an interest-bearing account.) The fund, 
including any interest, may not be used to pay debts or expenses incurred by other activities beyond the scope of the 
Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program (JAG). The recipient also agrees to obligate the award 
funds in the trust fund (including any interest earned) during the period of performance for the award and expend 
within 90 days thereafter. Any unobligated or unexpended funds, including interest earned, must be returned to OJP at 
the time of closeout.

37.

38.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 13 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Prohibition on use of award funds for match under BVP program



JAG funds may be used to purchase vests for an agency, but they may not be used as the 50% match for purposes of the
DOJ Bulletproof Vest Partnership (BVP) program.

Certification of body armor "mandatory wear" policies



The recipient agrees to submit a signed certification that all law enforcement agencies receiving body armor purchased 
with funds from this award have a written "mandatory wear" policy in effect. The recipient must keep signed 
certifications on file for any subrecipients planning to utilize funds from this award for ballistic-resistant and stab-
resistant body armor purchases. This policy must be in place for at least all uniformed officers before any funds from 
this award may be used by an agency for body armor. There are no requirements regarding the nature of the policy 
other than it be a mandatory wear policy for all uniformed officers while on duty.

Body armor - compliance with NIJ standards



Ballistic-resistant and stab-resistant body armor purchased with JAG award funds may be purchased at any threat 
level, make or model, from any distributor or manufacturer, as long as the body armor has been tested and found to 
comply with applicable National Institute of Justice ballistic or stab standards and is listed on the NIJ Compliant Body 
Armor Model List (https://nij.gov/). In addition, ballistic-resistant and stab-resistant body armor purchased must be 
American-made. The latest NIJ standard information can be found here: https://nij.gov/topics/technology/body-
armor/pages/safety-initiative.aspx.

Required monitoring of subawards



The recipient must monitor subawards under this JAG award in accordance with all applicable statutes, regulations, 
award conditions, and the DOJ Grants Financial Guide, and must include the applicable conditions of this award in any 
subaward. Among other things, the recipient is responsible for oversight of subrecipient spending and monitoring of 
specific outcomes and benefits attributable to use of award funds by subrecipients. The recipient agrees to submit, upon
request, documentation of its policies and procedures for monitoring of subawards under this award.

Reporting requirements



The recipient must submit quarterly Federal Financial Reports (SF-425) and semi-annual performance reports through 
OJP's GMS (https://grants.ojp.usdoj.gov). Consistent with the Department's responsibilities under the Government 
Performance and Results Act (GPRA) and the GPRA Modernization Act of 2010, the recipient must provide data that 
measure the results of its work.  The recipient must submit quarterly performance metrics reports through BJA's 
Performance Measurement Tool (PMT) website (www.bjaperformancetools.org). For more detailed information on 
reporting and other JAG requirements, refer to the JAG reporting requirements webpage. Failure to submit required 
JAG reports by established deadlines may result in the freezing of grant funds and future High Risk designation.

Required data on law enforcement agency training

 

Any law enforcement agency receiving direct or sub-awarded funding from this JAG award must submit quarterly 
accountability metrics data related to training that officers have received on the use of force, racial and ethnic bias, de-
escalation of conflict, and constructive engagement with the public.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 14 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Prohibited Expenditures List



Award funds may not be used for items that are listed on the Prohibited Expenditure List at the time of purchase or 
acquisition, including as the list may be amended from time to time. The Prohibited Expenditure List may be accessed 
here: https://www.bja.gov/funding/JAGControlledPurchaseList.pdf

Controlled expenditures - prior written approval required



Award funds may not be used for items that are listed on the Controlled Expenditure List at the time of purchase or 
acquisition, including as the list may be amended from time to time, without explicit written prior approval from BJA. 
The Controlled Expenditure List, and instructions on how to request approval for purchase or acquisitions are set out at 
https://www.bja.gov/funding/JAGControlledPurchaseList.pdf

Controlled expenditures - incident reporting



If an agency uses award funds to purchase or acquire any item on the Controlled Expenditure List at the time of 
purchase or acquisition, including as the list may be amended from time to time, the agency must collect and retain (for 
at least 3 years) certain information about the use of-- (1) any federally-acquired Controlled Equipment in the 
agency's inventory, and (2) any other controlled equipment in the same category as the federally-acquired controlled 
equipment in the agency's inventory, regardless of source; and the agency must make that information available to BJA
upon request. Details about what information must be collected and retained are set out at https://ojp.gov/docs/LE-
Equipment-WG-Final-Report.pdf.

Sale of items on Controlled Expenditure List



Notwithstanding the provision of the Part 200 Uniform Requirements set out at 2 C.F.R. 200.313, no equipment listed 
on the Controlled Expenditure List that is purchased with award funds may be transferred or sold to a third party, 
except as described below: 



a.  Agencies may transfer or sell any controlled equipment, except riot helmets and riot shields, to a Law Enforcement 
Agency (LEA) after obtaining prior written approval from BJA. As a condition of that approval, the acquiring LEA will
be required to submit information and certifications to BJA as if it were requesting approval to use award funds for the 
initial purchase of items on the Controlled Expenditure List.

 

b.  Agencies may not transfer or sell any riot helmets or riot shields purchased under this award. 



c.  Agencies may not transfer or sell any Controlled Equipment purchased under this award to non-LEAs, with the 
exception of fixed wing aircraft, rotary wing aircraft, and command and control vehicles. Before any such transfer or 
sale is finalized, the agency must obtain prior written approval from BJA. All law enforcement-related and other 
sensitive or potentially dangerous components, and all law enforcement insignias and identifying markings must be 
removed prior to transfer or sale.

 

The recipient must notify BJA prior to the disposal of any items on the Controlled Expenditure List purchased with 
award funds, and must abide by any applicable laws (including regulations) in such disposal.

Prohibited or controlled expenditures - Effect of failure to comply 



Failure to comply with an award condition related to prohibited or controlled expenditures may result in denial of any 
further approvals of controlled expenditures under this or other federal awards.

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 15 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Controlled expenditures - Standards



Consistent with recommendation 2.1 of Executive Order 13688, a law enforcement agency that acquires controlled 
equipment with award funds must adopt robust and specific written policies and protocols governing General Policing 
Standards and Specific Controlled Equipment Standards. General Policing Standards includes policies on (a) 
Community Policing; (b) Constitutional Policing; and (c) Community Input and Impact Considerations. Specific 
Controlled Equipment Standards includes policies specifically related to (a) Appropriate Use of Controlled Equipment; 
(b) Supervision of Use; (c) Effectiveness Evaluation; (d) Auditing and Accountability; and (e) Transparency and Notice
Considerations. Upon OJP's request, the recipient must provide a copy of the General Policing Standards and Specific 
Controlled Equipment Standards, and any related policies and protocols.

Authorization to obligate (federal) award funds to reimburse certain project costs incurred on or after October 1, 2016


The recipient may obligate (federal) award funds only after the recipient makes a valid acceptance of the award.  As of 
the first day of the period of performance for the award (October 1, 2016), however, the recipient may choose to incur 
project costs using non-federal funds, but any such project costs are incurred at the recipient's risk until, at a 
minimum-- (1) the recipient makes a valid acceptance of the award, and (2) all applicable withholding conditions are 
removed by OJP (via a Grant Adjustment Notice).  (A withholding condition is a condition in the award document that 
precludes the recipient from obligating, expending, or drawing down all or a portion of the award funds until the 
condition is removed.)



Except to the extent (if any) that an award condition expressly precludes reimbursement of project costs incurred "at-
risk," if and when the recipient makes a valid acceptance of this award and OJP removes each applicable withholding 
condition through a Grant Adjustment Notice, the recipient is authorized to obligate (federal) award funds to reimburse 
itself for project costs incurred "at-risk" earlier during the period of performance (such as project costs incurred prior to
award acceptance or prior to removal of an applicable withholding condition), provided that those project costs 
otherwise are allowable costs under the award.



Nothing in this condition shall be understood to authorize the recipient (or any subrecipient at any tier) to use award 
funds to "supplant" State or local funds in violation of the recipient's certification (executed by the chief executive of 
the State or local government) that federal funds will be used to increase the amounts of such funds that would, in the 
absence of federal funds, be made available for law enforcement activities.

"Certification of Compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373" required for valid award acceptance by a unit of local government



In order validly to accept this award, the applicant local government must submit the required "Certification of 
Compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373" (executed by the chief legal officer of the local government).  Unless that executed 
certification either-- (1) is submitted to OJP together with the fully-executed award document, or (2) is uploaded in 
OJP's GMS no later than the day the signed award document is submitted to OJP, any submission by a unit of local 
government that purports to accept the award is invalid. 



If an initial award-acceptance submission by the recipient is invalid, once the unit of local government does submit the 
necessary certification regarding 8 U.S.C. 1373, it may submit a fully-executed award document executed by the unit 
of local government on or after the date of that certification.



For purposes of this condition, "local government" does not include any Indian tribes.

50.

51.

52.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 16 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Ongoing compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373 is required



1. With respect to the "program or activity" funded in whole or part under this award (including any such "program or 
activity" of any subrecipient at any tier), throughout the period of performance for the award, no State or local 
government entity, -agency, or -official may prohibit or in any way restrict-- (1) any government entity or -official 
from sending or receiving information regarding citizenship or immigration status as described in 8 U.S.C. 1373(a); or 
(2) a government entity or -agency from sending, requesting or receiving, maintaining, or exchanging information 
regarding immigration status as described in 8 U.S.C. 1373(b).  For purposes of this award, any prohibition (or 
restriction) that violates this condition is an "information-communication restriction."



2. Certifications from subrecipients.  The recipient may not make a subaward to a State or local government or a 
"public" institution of higher education, unless it first obtains a certification of compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373, properly
executed by the chief legal officer of the jurisdiction or institution that would receive the subaward, using the 
appropriate form available at https://ojp.gov/funding/Explore/SampleCertifications-8USC1373.htm.  Similarly, the 
recipient must require that no subrecipient (at any tier) may make a further subaward to a State or local government or a
"public" institution of higher education, unless it first obtains a certification of compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373, properly
executed by the chief legal officer of the jurisdiction or institution that would receive the further subaward, using the 
appropriate OJP form.



3. The recipient's monitoring responsibilities include monitoring of subrecipient compliance with the requirements of 
this condition.



4. Allowable costs.  Compliance with these requirements is an authorized and priority purpose of this award.  To the 
extent that such costs are not reimbursed under any other federal program, award funds may be obligated (including for
authorized reimbursements) for the reasonable, necessary, and allocable costs (if any) that the recipient, or any 
subrecipient at any tier that is a State or local government or a "public" institution of higher education, incurs to 
implement this condition.



5. Rules of Construction



A. For purposes of this condition:



(1) "State" and "local government" include any agency or other entity thereof, but not any institution of higher 
education or any Indian tribe.



(2) A "public" institution of higher education is one that is owned, controlled, or directly funded by a State or local 
government.



(3) "Program or activity" means what it means under title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (see 42 U.S.C. 2000d-4a).


(4) "Immigration status" means what it means for purposes of 8 U.S.C. 1373 (Illegal Immigration Reform and 
Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996); and terms that are defined in 8 U.S.C. 1101 (Immigration and Nationality Act) 
mean what they mean under that section 1101, except that the term "State" also shall include American Samoa (cf. 42 
U.S.C. 901(a)(2)).



(5) Pursuant to the provisions set out at (or referenced in) 8 U.S.C. 1551 note ("Abolition … and Transfer of 
Functions"), references to the "Immigration and Naturalization Service" in 8 U.S.C. 1373 are to be read as references to
particular components of the Department of Homeland Security (DHS).



B. Nothing in this condition shall be understood to authorize or require any recipient, any subrecipient at any tier, any 
State or local government, any "public" institution of higher education, or any other entity (or individual) to violate any 
federal law, including any applicable civil rights or nondiscrimination law.




53.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 17 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

IMPORTANT NOTE:  Any questions about the meaning or scope of this condition should be directed to OJP, before 
award acceptance.

Authority to obligate award funds contingent on compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373; unallowable costs; obligation to notify


1.  If the recipient is a State or local government--



A.  The recipient may not obligate award funds if, at the time of the obligation, the "program or activity" of the 
recipient (or of any subrecipient at any tier that is a either a State or unit of local government or a "public" institution of
higher education) that is funded in whole or in part with award funds is subject to any "information-communication 
restriction."



B.  In addition, with respect to any project costs it incurs "at risk," the recipient may not obligate award funds to 
reimburse itself if -- at the time it incurs such costs -- the "program or activity" of the recipient (or of any 
subrecipient at any tier that is a either a State or unit of local government or a "public" institution of higher education) 
that would be reimbursed in whole or in part with award funds was subject to any "information-communication 
restriction."



C.  Any drawdown of award funds by the recipient shall be considered, for all purposes, to be a material representation 
by the recipient to OJP that, as of the date the recipient requests the drawdown, the recipient and all subrecipients 
(regardless of tier) are in compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373.



D.  The recipient must promptly notify OJP (in writing) if the recipient, from its requisite monitoring of compliance 
with award conditions or otherwise, has credible evidence that indicates that the funded "program or activity" of the 
recipient, or of any subrecipient at any tier that is either a State or a local government or a "public" institution of higher 
education, may be subject to any "information-communication restriction." In addition, any subaward (at any tier) to a 
subrecipient that is either a State or a local government or a "public" institution of higher education must require 
prompt notification to the entity that made the subaward, should the subrecipient such credible evidence regarding an 
"information-communication restriction."



2.  Any subaward (at any tier) to a subrecipient that is either a State or a local government or a "public" institution of 
higher education must provide that the subrecipient may not obligate award funds if, at the time of the obligation, the 
"program or activity" of the subrecipient (or of any further such subrecipient at any tier) that is funded in whole or in 
part with award funds is subject to any "information-communication restriction."



3.  Absent an express written determination by DOJ to the contrary, based upon a finding by DOJ of compelling 
circumstances (e.g., a small amount of award funds obligated by the recipient at the time of a subrecipient's minor and 
transitory non-compliance, which was unknown to the recipient despite diligent monitoring), any obligations of award 
funds that, under this condition, may not be made shall be unallowable costs for purposes of this award.  In making any 
such determination, DOJ will give great weight to evidence submitted by the recipient that demonstrates diligent 
monitoring of subrecipient compliance with the requirements set out in the award condition entitled "Ongoing 
compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373 is required."



4.  Rules of Construction



A.  For purposes of this condition "information-communication restriction" has the meaning set out in the award 
condition entitled "Ongoing compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373 is required."



B.  Both the "Rules of Construction" and the "Important Note" set out in the award condition entitled "Ongoing 
compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373 is required" are incorporated by reference as though set forth here in full.

54.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 18 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Required State-level rules or practices related to aliens; allowable costs



The following provisions apply to the recipient of this award, if the recipient is a State government, and also apply to 
any State-government subrecipient at any tier (whether or not the recipient is a State government).



1. Requirements



With respect to the "program or activity" that is funded (in whole or in part) by this award, as of the date the recipient 
accepts this award, and throughout the remainder of the period of performance for the award--



A. A State statute, or a State rule, -regulation, -policy, or -practice, must be in place that is designed to ensure that 
agents of the United States acting under color of federal law in fact are given to access any State (or State-contracted) 
correctional facility for the purpose of permitting such agents to meet with individuals who are (or are believed by such
agents to be) aliens and to inquire as to such individuals' right to be or remain in the United States.



B. A State statute, or a State rule, -regulation, -policy, or -practice, must be in place that is designed to ensure that, 
when a State (or State-contracted) correctional facility receives from DHS a formal written request authorized by the 
Immigration and Nationality Act that seeks advance notice of the scheduled release date and time for a particular alien 
in such facility, then such facility will honor such request and -- as early as practicable (see para. 4.B. of this 
condition) -- provide the requested notice to DHS.



2. Monitoring



The recipient's monitoring responsibilities include monitoring of subrecipient compliance with the requirements of this 
condition.



3. Allowable costs



Compliance with these requirements is an authorized and priority purpose of this award. To the extent that such costs 
are not reimbursed under any other federal program, award funds may be obligated (including for authorized 
reimbursements) for the reasonable, necessary, and allocable costs (if any) of-- (1) developing and putting into place 
statutes, rules, regulations, policies, and practices to satisfy this condition, and (2) permitting access as described in 
para. 1.A. above, and (3) honoring any request from DHS that is encompassed by para. 1.B. above.



4. Rules of construction



A. For purposes of this condition--



(1) the term "alien" means what it means under section 101 of the Immigration and Nationality Act (see 8 U.S.C. 
1101(a)(3)).



(2) the term "correctional facility" means what it means under the Title I of the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe 
Streets Act of 1968 (see 42 U.S.C. 3791(a)(7)).



B. Nothing in this condition shall be understood to authorize or require any recipient, any subrecipient at any tier, any 
State or local government, or any other entity or individual to maintain (or detain) any individual in custody beyond the
date and time the individual would have been released in the absence of this condition.



Current DHS practice is ordinarily to request advance notice of scheduled release "as early as practicable (at least 48 
hours, if possible)." (See DHS Form I-247A (3/17)). In the event that (e.g., in light of the date DHS made such request)
the scheduled release date and time for an alien are such as not to permit the advance notice that DHS has requested, it 
shall not be a violation of this condition to provide only as much advance notice as practicable.




55.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 19 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

NOTE: Current DHS practice is to use one form (DHS Form I-247A (3/17)) for two distinct purposes -- to request 
advance notice of scheduled release, and to request that an individual be detained for up to 48 hours AFTER the 
scheduled release. This condition imposes NO requirements as to such DHS requests for detention.



C. Both the "Rules of Construction" and the "Important Note" set out in the award condition entitled "Ongoing 
compliance with 8 U.S.C. 1373 is required" are incorporated by reference as though set forth here in full.

Required local-government-level rules or practices related to aliens; allowable costs



The following provisions apply to the recipient of this award, if the recipient is a unit of local government, and also 
apply to any local-government subrecipient of this award at any tier (whether or not the recipient itself is a unit of local
government).



1.  Requirements 



With respect to the "program or activity" that is funded (in whole or in part) by this award, as of the date the recipient 
accepts this award, and throughout the remainder of the period of performance for the award--



A.  A local ordinance, -rule, -regulation, -policy, or -practice (or an applicable State statute, -rule, -regulation, -
policy, or -practice) must be in place that is designed to ensure that agents of the United States acting under color of 
federal law in fact are given access a local-government (or local-government-contracted) correctional facility for the 
purpose of permitting such agents to meet with individuals who are (or are believed by such agents to be) aliens and to 
inquire as to such individuals' right to be or remain in the United States.



B.  A local ordinance, -rule, -regulation, -policy, or -practice (or an applicable State statute, -rule, -regulation, -
policy, or -practice) must be in place that is designed to ensure that, when a local-government (or local-government-
contracted) correctional facility receives from DHS a formal written request authorized by the Immigration and 
Nationality Act that seeks advance notice of the scheduled release date and time for a particular alien in such facility, 
then such facility will honor such request and -- as early as practicable (see "Rules of Construction" incorporated by 
para. 4.B. of this condition) -- provide the requested notice to DHS.



2.  Monitoring



The recipient's monitoring responsibilities include monitoring of subrecipient compliance with the requirements of this 
condition.



3.  Allowable costs



Compliance with these requirements is an authorized and priority purpose of this award.  To the extent that such costs 
are not reimbursed under any other federal program, award funds may be obligated (including for authorized 
reimbursements) for the reasonable, necessary, and allocable costs (if any) of-- (1) developing and putting into place 
statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, policies, and practices to satisfy this condition, (2) permitting access as 
described in para. 1.A. above, and (3) honoring any request from DHS that is encompassed by para. 1.B. above.



4.  Rules of construction



A.  The "Rules of Construction" and the "Important Note" set out in the award condition entitled "Ongoing compliance 
with 8 U.S.C. 1373 is required" are incorporated by reference as though set forth here in full.  



B.  The "Rules of Construction" set out in the award condition entitled "Required State-level rules or practices related 
to aliens; allowable costs" are incorporated by reference as though set forth here in full.

56.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 20 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Use of funds for DNA testing; upload of DNA profiles 



If award funds are used for DNA testing of evidentiary materials, any resulting eligible DNA profiles must be uploaded
to the Combined DNA Index System ("CODIS," the DNA database operated by the FBI) by a government DNA 
laboratory with access to CODIS.  



No profiles generated under this award may be entered or uploaded into any non-governmental DNA database without 
prior express written approval from BJA.



Award funds may not be used for the purchase of DNA equipment and supplies unless the resulting DNA profiles may 
be accepted for entry into CODIS.

Encouragement of submission of "success stories"



BJA strongly encourages the recipient to submit annual (or more frequent) JAG success stories. To submit a success 
story, sign in to a My BJA account at https://www.bja.gov/Login.aspx to access the Success Story Submission form. If 
the recipient does not yet have a My BJA account, please register at https://www.bja.gov/profile.aspx. Once registered, 
one of the available areas on the My BJA page will be "My Success Stories." Within this box, there is an option to add 
a Success Story. Once reviewed and approved by BJA, all success stories will appear on the BJA Success Story web 
page at https://www.bja.gov/SuccessStoryList.aspx.

Requirement to disclose whether recipient is designated "high risk" by a federal grant-making agency outside of DOJ


If the recipient is designated "high risk" by a federal grant-making agency outside of DOJ, currently or at any time 
during the course of the period of performance under this award, the recipient must disclose that fact and certain related
information to OJP by email at OJP.ComplianceReporting@ojp.usdoj.gov.  For purposes of this disclosure, high risk 
includes any status under which a federal awarding agency provides additional oversight due to the recipient's past 
performance, or other programmatic or financial concerns with the recipient. The recipient's disclosure must include 
the following: 1. The federal awarding agency that currently designates the recipient high risk, 2. The date the recipient 
was designated high risk, 3. The high-risk point of contact at that federal awarding agency (name, phone number, and 
email address), and 4. The reasons for the high-risk status, as set out by the federal awarding agency.

Reclassification of various statutory provisions to a new Title 34 of the United States Code 



On September 1, 2017, various statutory provisions previously codified elsewhere in the U.S. Code were editorially 
reclassified to a new Title 34, entitled "Crime Control and Law Enforcement."  The reclassification encompassed a 
number of statutory provisions pertinent to OJP awards (that is, OJP grants and cooperative agreements), including 
many provisions previously codified in Title 42 of the U.S. Code. 



Effective as of September 1, 2017, any reference in this award document to a statutory provision that has been 
reclassified to the new Title 34 of the U.S. Code is to be read as a reference to that statutory provision as reclassified to 
Title 34.  This rule of construction specifically includes references set out in award conditions, references set out in 
material incorporated by reference through award conditions, and references set out in other award requirements.

Withholding of funds: Required certification from the chief executive of the applicant government



The recipient may not obligate, expend, or draw down any award funds until the recipient submits the required 
"Certifications and Assurances by the Chief Executive of the Applicant Government," properly-executed (as 
determined by OJP), and a Grant Adjustment Notice (GAN) has been issued to remove this condition.

57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



AWARD CONTINUATION
SHEET

Grant

PAGE 21 OF

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

AWARD DATE 06/26/2018PROJECT NUMBER 2017-DJ-BX-0638

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Withholding of funds:  Memorandum of Understanding



The recipient may not obligate, expend, or draw down any award funds until OJP has reviewed and approved the 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), and a Grant Adjustment Notice (GAN) has been issued to remove this 
condition.

62.

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

21



Memorandum To:

From:

Subject:

Washington, D.C.  20531

Orbin Terry, NEPA Coordinator

Incorporates NEPA Compliance in Further Developmental Stages for City of 
Muskogee

The Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program (JAG) allows states and local governments to 
support a broad range of activities to prevent and control crime and to improve the criminal justice system, some of
which could have environmental impacts.  All recipients of JAG funding must assist BJA in complying with NEPA
and other related federal environmental impact analyses requirements in the use of grant funds, whether the funds 
are used directly by the grantee or by a subgrantee or third party.  Accordingly, prior to obligating funds for any of 
the specified activities, the grantee must first determine if any of the specified activities will be funded by the 
grant.

  

The specified activities requiring environmental analysis are:

a. New construction;

b. Any renovation or remodeling of a property located in an environmentally or historically sensitive area, 
including properties located within a 100-year flood plain, a wetland, or habitat for endangered species, or a 
property listed on or eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places;

c.  A renovation, lease, or any proposed use of a building or facility that will either (a) result in a change in its basic
prior use or (b) significantly change its size; 

d.  Implementation of a new program involving the use of chemicals other than chemicals that are (a) purchased as 
an incidental component of a funded activity and (b) traditionally used, for example, in office, household, 
recreational, or education environments; and

e. Implementation of a program relating to clandestine methamphetamine laboratory operations, including the 
identification, seizure, or closure of clandestine methamphetamine laboratories.



Complying with NEPA may require the preparation of an Environmental Assessment and/or an Environmental 
Impact Statement, as directed by BJA.  Further, for programs relating to methamphetamine laboratory operations, 
the preparation of a detailed Mitigation Plan will be required.  For more information about Mitigation Plan 
requirements, please see https://www.bja.gov/Funding/nepa.html.

 

Please be sure to carefully review the grant conditions on your award document, as it may contain more specific 
information about environmental compliance.

U.S. Department of Justice

Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance

Official Grant File



GRANT MANAGER'S MEMORANDUM, PT. I: 
PROJECT SUMMARY

1. STAFF CONTACT (Name & telephone number)

PROJECT NUMBER

6. NAME & ADRESS OF SUBGRANTEE

7. PROGRAM PERIOD 8. BUDGET PERIOD

9. AMOUNT OF AWARD 10. DATE OF AWARD

11. SECOND YEAR'S BUDGET

2017-DJ-BX-0638

2. PROJECT DIRECTOR (Name, address & telephone number)

4. TITLE OF PROJECT

12. SECOND YEAR'S BUDGET AMOUNT

13. THIRD YEAR'S BUDGET PERIOD 14. THIRD YEAR'S BUDGET AMOUNT

15. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT (See instruction on reverse)

5. NAME & ADDRESS OF GRANTEE

Grant

This project is supported under FY17(BJA - JAG State and JAG Local) Title I of Pub. L. No. 90-351 (generally codified at 42 U.S.C. 3711 - 3797ff-5), including 
subpart 1 of part E (codified at 42 U.S.C. 3750 - 3758); see also 28 U.S.C. 530C(a).

Chad Farmer
Deputy Chief
112 South 3rd Street
Muskogee, OK 74401-7007
(918) 683-8000

PAGE 11 OF

The Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant Program (JAG) allows states and units of local government, including tribes, to support a broad range of 
criminal justice related activities based on their own state and local needs and conditions. Grant funds can be used for state and local initiatives, technical assistance,
training, personnel, equipment, supplies, contractual support, and information systems for criminal justice, including for any one or more of the following purpose 
areas: 1) law enforcement programs; 2) prosecution and court programs; 3) prevention and education programs; 4) corrections and community corrections programs;
5) drug treatment and enforcement programs; 6) planning, evaluation, and technology improvement programs; 7) crime victim and witness programs (other than 
compensation); and 8) mental health programs and related law enforcement and corrections programs, including behavioral programs and crisis intervention teams.


This Local JAG award will be shared by the County and one or more jurisdictions identified as disparate within the current Fiscal Year eligibility list 
(www.bja.gov/Jag). JAG funding will be used to support criminal justice initiatives that fall under one or more of the allowable program areas above. Any 

Olga Santiago
(202) 598-1094

OJP FORM 4000/2 (REV. 4-88)

Muskogee City and Muskogee County FY17 JAG 

City of Muskogee
PO Box 1927
Muskogee, OK 74402

TO:10/01/2016 09/30/2020FROM: TO:10/01/2016 09/30/2020FROM:

06/26/2018 $ 34,514

3b. POMS CODE (SEE INSTRUCTIONS
      ON REVERSE)

3a. TITLE OF THE PROGRAM

BJA FY 17 Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Program - Local Solicitation

U.S. Department of Justice
Office of Justice Programs

Bureau of Justice Assistance



equipment purchases or funded initiatives such as overtime, task forces, drug programs, information sharing, etc. will be aimed at reducing crime and/or enhancing 
public/officer safety. 

 

NCA/NCF 










   
Regular City Council 3.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For:  Michael O'Dell, Fire Department  Initiator: Michael O'Dell, Fire

Chief
Department: Fire Department
Staff Information Source: Darrell Jones, Fire Marshal 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval to accept a Fire Prevention Grant in the amount of $2,500.00 from FM Global to be used for
the purchase of smoke detectors, or take other necessary action. (Mike O'Dell)

BACKGROUND:
Fire Prevention Grant from FM Global in the amount of $2,500.00 to purchase smoke detectors for the
Fire Dept. smoke detector program.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Authorize the Fire Chief to accept the grant award from FM Global in the amount of $2,500.00 or take
other necessary action.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Fire Prevention Grant 
Fire Prevention Grant Award Letter 



FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE DATE: Enter Current Date
Media Contact: Enter Name of Contact for Press
Phone Number: Enter Phone Number of Contact for Press
E-Mail: Enter E-Mail of Contact for Press

Muskogee Fire Department to Bolster 
Fire Prevention Efforts with FM Global Grant

MUSKOGEE, Okla.—The Muskogee Fire Department has received a US$2,500 fire prevention grant 
from FM Global, one of the world’s largest commercial property insurers. 

FM Global representatives presented the award to Enter who from your agency will be accepting the 
grant award at the Enter the location of the award presentation located on Enter the street address of 
the award presentation in Enter the city of the award presentation. The award will be used to assist 
with fire prevention activities in the community to help educate the community and reduce the number 
of fires.

Because fire continues to be the leading cause of property damage worldwide, during the past 40 years 
FM Global has contributed millions of dollars in fire prevention grants to fire service organizations 
around the globe. Locally, the company has awarded grants to a number of Oklahoma-based 
organizations.

“At FM Global, we strongly believe the majority of property damage is preventable, not inevitable,” said 
Michael Spaziani, assistant vice president –manager of the fire prevention grant program. “Far too 
often, inadequate budgets prevent those organizations working to prevent fire from being as proactive 
as they would like to be. With additional financial support, grant recipients are actively helping to 
improve property risk in the communities they serve.”

Through its Fire Prevention Grant Program, FM Global awards grants to fire departments—as well as 
national, state, regional, local and community organizations worldwide—that best demonstrate a need 
for funding, where dollars can have the most demonstrable impact on preventing fire, or mitigating the 
damage it can quickly cause. 

To learn more about FM Global’s Fire Prevention Grant Program and other resources for the fire service, 
please visit www.fmglobal.com/fireservice. 

Established nearly 200 years ago, FM Global is a mutual insurance company whose capital, scientific 
research capability and engineering expertise are solely dedicated to property risk management and the 
resilience of its client-owners. These owners, who share the belief that the majority of property loss is 
preventable, represent many of the world’s largest organizations, including one of every three Fortune 
500 companies. They work with FM Global to better understand the hazards that can impact their 
business continuity in order to make cost-effective risk management decisions, combining property loss 
prevention with insurance protection. 

18-123





  

 
 
 
June 20, 2018 
 
 
Fire Marshal Jones 
Muskogee Fire Department 
505 Columbus 
Muskogee, Oklahoma 74401 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Fire Marshal Jones: 
 
Congratulations. Your grant application for an FM Global fire prevention grant stood out among 
the hundreds we received, and we will be funding $2500 to purchase photoelectric smoke 
detectors. We hope the additional funding will help to strengthen your efforts to ultimately, and 
more effectively prevent fire—the leading cause of property destruction worldwide. 
 
In the coming weeks, you will be contacted by an FM Global representative to set up a formal 
presentation. In the meantime, award checks will be mailed in July to your attention at the 
address above. Please feel free to use the attached news release that we’ve prepared for you to 
promote news media interest—be it in advance of or after the formal presentation.  
 
During the past 40 years, FM Global has awarded millions of dollars in funding to fire 
departments and related agencies worldwide. With a shared philosophy that the majority of 
property loss is preventable—not inevitable—we can make a difference in preventing the 
frequency and severity of fire…together. 
 
Once again, congratulations on your recent fire prevention grant awarded by FM Global, one of 
the world’s largest commercial property insurers.  
 
If you have any questions regarding your award, please feel welcome to e-mail me.  
 
Best wishes for continued success in your fire prevention endeavors. 
 

 
Michael Spaziani 
Assistant Vice President, Manager - Fire Service Programs 
 
CC: Carter Whiteside - Dallas Operations 
18-123 - Muskogee Fire Department 



   
Regular City Council 4.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For:  Tammy Tracy, City Clerk  Initiator: Tammy Tracy, City

Clerk
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of the appointment of Jaime Stout to serve a two (2) year term on the City of Muskogee
Foundation Board, beginning September 1, 2018, and ending August 31, 2020, replacing Dan Hall, or
take other necessary action. (Councilor Dan Hall)

BACKGROUND:
Mr. Hall was appointed to the City of Muskogee Foundation Board on September 1, 2016. His term will
expire August 31, 2018.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Recommend approval.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Regular City Council 5.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For:  Roy Tucker, City Attorney  Initiator: Roy Tucker, City

Attorney
Department: City Attorney
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of the appointment of Glenda Shelton to the War Memorial Trust Authority, filling the
unexpired term of Joshua Caserez, ending on April 30, 2019, or take other necessary action. (Marlon
Coleman)

BACKGROUND:
Councilor Coleman would like to appoint Glenda Shelton to the War Memorial Trust Authority.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the appointment.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Regular City Council 6.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For:  Greg Riley, Public Works  Initiator: Prag Mahajan, Civil

Engineer II
Department: Public Works
Staff Information Source: Greg Riley, Director of Public Works; Jim Wixom, Assistant Director of

Public Works-Operation; Prag Mahajan, Civil Engineer; Donnie Wimbley
Purchasing Director; 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval to award a contract in the amount of $728,807.90 to the sole bidder, Intermountain Slurry Seal
Inc., inclusive of Add Alternate Nos. 1 and 2, for the Micro Surfacing Project for the Central Business
District, or take other necessary action. (Greg Riley)

BACKGROUND:
This project includes micro surfacing of approximately eight (8) miles of streets including two (2) miles
of Broadway within the Central Business District.  Micro Surfacing is a mixture of modified asphalt
emulsion, hi-quality aggregates and specialty additives properly proportioned, mixed and spread on
paved roads.  The product is known for its macro-texture and rapid traffic return.  This product has a
history of superior performance for all types of roads and is typically applied at approximately 3/8";
capable of filling ruts and restoring sections, improving safety.  We have found great results with this
product in Muskogee as it extends the life of pavement and has been researched by the Street
Committee and Staff.  This includes crack sealing of the pavement as part of the process as Add
Alternate No.1 and Add Alternate No. 2 is for traffic striping which includes re-striping Dennison to
have bicycle lanes and handicap spaces on Broadway.

The original Scope of the project has been modified and Elgin from Main to 7th Street was removed.
This was done to accommodate it through the Depot District Project and bring the project within budget.

The Street Committee and Staff recommend going with the only bid received from Intermountain Slurry,
Inc. The price is higher than previous micro sealing bids but is in line with recent ODOT bid amounts
for the same type work and this project will have some night and weekend work.

Original Bid Schedule is attached for your reference.

The project is budgeted as part of Contractual Services in Street and Traffic.  It was delayed from
2016-2017 budget year in anticipation of the start of the Main Street project.  The Main Street portion
has been removed and this project is for the remainder of the streets.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve awarding a Micro Surfacing project for the Central Business District (with Add Alternate No.1
and Add Alternate No.2) as the only Bid in the amount of $728,807.90 to Intermountain Slurry Seal
 Inc. 



Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Bid Schedule 

























































   
Regular City Council 7.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For:  Donnie Wimbley, Purchasing 
Initiator: Donnie Wimbley, Purchasing Director
Department: Purchasing
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of awarding the lowest and best bid to Todays Roofing for Muskogee Emergency
Management Building Roof in the amount of $243,210.16, or take other necessary action. (Mike
Stewart)

BACKGROUND:
Rebuild the Muskogee Emergency Management Building Roof.

Bids received as shown below:
Todays Roofing Bid amount - $243,210.16
Sooner Recon Bid Amount - $285,588.05

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approval of Lowest and best bid from Todays Roofing in the amount of $243,210.16 for Muskogee
Emergency Management Building Roof.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Tabulation Sheet 





   
Regular City Council 8.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For: Tammy Tracy, City Clerk  Initiator: Tammy Tracy, City

Clerk
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Approval of the reappointment of Jack Farr to serve a three (3) year term on the Muskogee Housing
Authority Board, beginning July 23, 2018, and ending on May 31, 2021, or take other necessary action.
(Councilor Derrick Reed)

BACKGROUND:
Mr. Farr's term on the Muskogee Housing Authority Board expired May 31, 2018.  He is requesting
reappointment to the Board.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approval of reappointment

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Jack Farr 



APPLICATION FOR APPOINTMENT TO A BOARD OR COMMISSION 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE 

CITY COUNCIL 

APPLICATION FOR CITY COUNCIL APPOINTMENT TO A BOARD 

OR COMMISSION 

Application Instructions: 
• Complete the entire application form (copies of the form are acceptable).
• Applicants are strongly encouraged to attach a current resume or biography.
• Specifically list the names of the boards or commissions to which you are applying (multiple

selections are allowed). Paperwork cannot be appropriately processed unless specific boards or
commissions are listed. 

• Return application along with your resume to: 
Office of the City Clerk, 229 W. Okmulgee, Muskogee, OK 74403 or by fax 918-684-6395. 

• This form can be obtained electronically at http://www.cityofmuskogee.com, or by calling the City
Clerk's Office at: (918) 684-6270. 

Board(s) or Commission(s) for which you would like to be considered: 

Your Full Your 
Legal Name: _)_,4:u.__::c..:...:./.---'<!-'-).'-. _L_.h.LA.L.......<12'""-'-'l'L=--- Preferred Name:_---=J'--'A"'----"e:..L;.--=c::=-----------

Business Name: _ ...... ��6=, ..... Ti""'-=4'"""�=u:>"'-______ Home Address: 

Job Title/Employment Date: _______ City Zip: 41u�/((!Ci[C:� tt'/, 11./t./c'J I

Business Address: _..,.._5'_,_tJ�..s,i..;;.___:6"'--______ Ward: 2 3 4 

________________ Home Phone:  

Business Phone: VS t3;:g_ ::Z,l)tJt Cell Phone:. _____________ _ 

Fax:---------------- Home Email: ____________ _ 

Business Email:S i,e,lc: /-A-,L,t t!J) kDt? r-, //..._'/( "14-, '/ ,r �-(._

Are you registered to vote in City of Muskogee Elections? ® No 
Are you a citizen of the United States? @ No 

Personal Information: 
<Tli.e :Mayor ana Counci[ aesire a 6roaa representation of 6ack.!Jrounas on 6oaras ana commissions. 

Educati�n (high school, name and location of college or university, year graduated, and degree): 
at,-r;,,.. oe<, u,<:& s:c&4,,

Page 1 of 3 







   
Regular City Council 9.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For: Roy Tucker, City Attorney  Initiator: Ashley Wallace,

Office Adm 1
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval of Ordinance No. 4051-A amending the City of Muskogee Code of Ordinances, by
Amending Chapter 1, General Provisions; Section 1-14, General Penalties; Continuing Violations;
Establishing Maximum Fine and Costs for Speed Limit Violations of 10 or less; Providing for Repealer,
Severability and Declaring an Emergency, or take other necessary action. (Roy D. Tucker)

BACKGROUND:
This Session the Oklahoma Legislature passed Senate Bill 1203, effective August 2, 2018. This bill
limits the amount of fines and costs that can be assessed for speed violations of ten (10) or less miles per
hour to $100.00, rather than our current fee of $211.00. This represents a reduction of $111.00 per
citation. No other fines were impacted. Amending our code will bring us into compliance with state
statute by the effective date of the bill.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the ordinance.  
 

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
4051-A Speed Limit Violation Fees 



ORDINANCE NO. 4051-A 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES BY AMENDING CHAPTER 1, GENERAL PROVISIONS; 

SECTION 1-14, GENERAL PENALTIES; CONTINUING VIOLATIONS; 

ESTABLISHING MAXIMUM FINE AND COSTS FOR SPEED LIMIT 

VIOLATION OF 10 OR LESS; PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY 

AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

     AN EMERGENCY ORDINANCE 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, 

OKLAHOMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.  Section 1-14, General Penalties; continuing violations of Chapter 1, General 

Provisions, of the City of Muskogee Code of Ordinances is hereby amended as follows:  

SEC. 1-14. - GENERAL PENALTIES; CONTINUING VIOLATIONS.  

(a)  In this section, the term "violation of this Code" means any of the following:  

(1)  Doing an act that is prohibited or made or declared unlawful, an offense, a violation or 

a misdemeanor by ordinance or by rule or regulation authorized by ordinance.  

(2)  Failure to perform an act that is required to be performed by ordinance or by rule or 

regulation authorized by ordinance.  

(3)  Failure to perform an act if the failure is prohibited or is made or declared unlawful, an 

offense, a violation or a misdemeanor by ordinance or by rule or regulation authorized by 

ordinance.  

(b)  In this section, the term "violation of this Code" does not include the failure of a city officer 

or city employee to perform an official duty unless it is specifically provided that the failure 

to perform the duty is to be punished as provided in this section.  

(c)  In this section, the general penalties are determined as follows:  

(1)  The council has the power to prescribe fines or imprisonment, not exceeding 60 days, 

or both the fine and imprisonment, as well as associated court costs.  

(2)  The maximum fine or deferral fee in lieu of a fine for speeding or illegal parking shall 

not exceed $200.00; provided, however, any person convicted of a speeding violation of 

one (1) to ten (10) miles per hour over the speed limit shall be punished by a fine of not 

more than five dollars ($5), nor assessed costs in excess of Ninety-Five Dollars ($95.00), 

with revenue from the same apportioned in accordance with Title 47, Section 11-801, 

Oklahoma Statutes as may be amended from time to time.   

(3)  The maximum fine or deferral fee in lieu of a fine for alcohol-related or drug-related 

offenses shall not exceed $800.00.  



(4)  All other offenses shall be limited to a maximum fine or deferral fee in lieu of a fine of 

$750.00.  

(5)  No penalty, including fine and costs, shall be greater than that established by statute for 

the same offense.  

(6)  A person convicted of a violation of this Code pertaining to the pretreatment of 

wastewater or regulating stormwater discharges shall be punished by a fine not exceeding 

$1,000.00 and costs or imprisonment not exceeding 90 days, or both such fine and 

imprisonment.  

(7)  A person who is charged with such an offense that carries a possible imprisonment 

penalty shall have a right to a jury trial.  

(d)  Except as otherwise provided by law or ordinance:  

(1)  As to violations of this Code that are continuous with respect to time, each day that the 

violation continues is a separate offense.  

(2)  As to other violations, each act is a separate offense.  

(3)  The specific penalty or punishment shall be determined by a schedule, adopted by the 

city council and maintained in the offices of the city clerk and the municipal court clerk, 

which shall provide the prescribed punitive measures for violations of this Code.  

(e)  Any person fined for a violation of this Code who is financially able but refuses or neglects 

to pay the fine or costs may be compelled to satisfy the amount owed by working on the 

streets, alleys, avenues, areas and public grounds of the city, subject to the direction of the 

city manager, at the minimum rate allowed by statute for useful labor, or at a rate prescribed 

by ordinance, until the fine or costs are satisfied.  

(f)  The imposition of a penalty does not prevent suspension or revocation of a license, permit or 

franchise or other administrative sanctions.  

(g)  Violations of this Code that are continuous with respect to time are a public nuisance and 

may be abated by injunctive or other equitable relief. The imposition of a penalty does not 

prevent injunctive relief.  

(h)  The city shall not have authority to enact any ordinance making unlawful any act or omission 

declared a felony by state statute.  

(i)  The city shall not levy a fine or deferral fee in lieu of a fine over $50.00 until it has compiled 

and published its penal ordinances as required by state statute.  

(j)  The city shall not levy a fine of more than $10.00 nor court costs of more than $15.00 for 

exceeding the posted speed limit by no more than ten miles per hour upon any portion of the 

national system of interstate and defense highways, federal-aid primary highways, and the 

state highway system which are located on the outskirts of the municipality as determined by 

state statute.  

Section 2. REPEALER. All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in direct conflict herewith are 

repealed to the extent of the conflict only. 

 



Section 3. SEVERABILITY. Should any part section, subsection, sentence, provision, clause or 

phrase hereof be held invalid, void, or unconstitutional for any reason, such holding shall not 

render invalid, void, or unconstitutional any other section, subsection, sentence, provision, clause, 

or phrase of this ordinance, and the same are deemed severable for this purpose. 

 

Section 4. EMERGENCY. This ordinance being designated to protect the public health, safety and 

welfare of the inhabitants of the City of Muskogee, Oklahoma, and its passage being  immediately 

necessary, an emergency is hereby declared to exist and by reason whereof this ordinance shall 

take effect immediately upon its passage, approval and publication as provided by law. 

 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE, 

OKLAHOMA, THIS ____ DAY OF JULY, 2018. 

 

 

 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

JOHN R. COBURN, MAYOR 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK 

 

 

(seal) 

 

 

Approved as to form and legality this 23rd day of July, 2018. 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________ 

ROY TUCKER, CITY ATTORNEY 



   
Regular City Council 10.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For: Mike Miller, City Manager  Initiator: Mike Miller, City

Manager
Department: City Manager
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Receive report from the Greater Muskogee Area Chamber of Commerce as to project status and
progress towards achieving the objectives outlined in the 2017-2018 Program of Work for the City's
tourism contract, and take any necessary action. (Mike Miller)  

BACKGROUND:

This report from the city's contracted tourism development partner, the Greater Muskogee Area
Chamber of Commerce, is intended to brief the council on what the organization has done in the past
twelve months and what its plans and projects are for the next year. The funding for a renewal of the
tourism contract for FY2018-2019 was approved as part of the overall city budget.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Receive report

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
Tourism Highlights 



GMACC’S Tourism Program Highlights 

2017/2018 

 

1 
 

 We successfully combined the Community Support Grant program with the Annual Support Grant 

program for one seamless application and approval process. Our program funded $40,000 

through our Community Support Grants to 17 different local events  

 
 Bedouin Shrine Muskogee Shootout ATV Races 

 USS Batfish Living History Day Cruise 

 Real Okie Classic Statewide Bowling Tournament 

 The Barracks Biketoberfest 

 Masonic Building Assoc. Raising the Roof Poker Run 

 Castle of Muskogee Zombie Run 

 Ride Muskogee Facebook Campaign 

 Bare Bones International Film & Music Festival 

 Five Civilized Tribes Museum Master’s Art Show 

 USS Batfish Living History Day Winter Cruise 

 Muskogee County Master Gardeners State Conference 

 Main Street Muskogee Intertribal Celebration 

 Friends of Honor Heights Park Real Okie Craft Beer Fest 

 Muskogee Exchange Club Chili and BBQ Cookoff 

 KTFX Okie Country 101.7 Paws & Claws Disc Golf Classic 

 OMHOF Summer Concert Series Soul Fest 

 OMHOF Summer Concert Series Gospel Fest 

 OMHOF Annual Induction Event 
 Oklahoma Movie Hall of Fame Induction Event 

 
 Our sponsorships totaled $61,000 through our Large Special Projects fund to 4 different major 

events  

 

 Oklahoma Festival of Ballooning 

 APT Pro Golf Tournament 

 Bassmaster Opens 

 Exchange Club of Muskogee Chili Cookoff Kickoff Party- Jason Boland concert 

 

 We provided graphic design services and digital billboard exposure free of cost for local event 

promotion 

 
 We continued design, printing, and distribution of Muskogee literature 

 

 Activities Guide 2018 

 Official City Map 

 Motorcycle Ride Guide 

 City Bikes & Trails Map 



GMACC’S Tourism Program Highlights 

2017/2018 

 

2 
 

 Continued trade show co-ops for 13 different regional shows  

 The Denver Travel & Adventure Show 

 Ft. Smith Women’s Living Expo 

 NW Arkansas Women’s Living Expo 

 Overland Park RV & Outdoor Show 

 Tulsa Home & Garden Expo 

 Wichita Women’s Fair 

 Springfield Boat, Sport, & RV Show 

 St. Louis Working Women’s Show 

 Tulsa Women’s Living Expo 

 OKC RV & Boat Show 

 South Padre Market Days 

 Dallas Travel & Adventure Show 

 OKC Bike & Car Show 

 Great Outdoor Recreation Expo 

 Tulsa Boat, Sport, & Travel Show 

 

 We welcomed a record number of visitors this year to Muskogee  

2,132,804 visitors to Muskogee in 2017/2018 

 
 We’ve taken a new approach to trade shows in an effort to broaden our exposure both nationally 

and internationally with a booth in the nation’s most highly attended Travel Trade Show in the 

United States, The Travel & Adventure Show in Denver, CO. 

 

 The Visit Muskogee App rolled out in Summer of last year. We have geofencing with personalized 

messaging around all Muskogee attractions and Museums, as well as the entire City Limits, 

welcoming visitors to Muskogee and promoting events. 

 

 We continued to provide Tourist Information Bags containing Activities Guides, Official Maps, lapel 

pins, guitar picks, and local publications 

 

 Professional Development is key to staying on top of our industry’s trends and techniques and 

continuing to promote Muskogee as an innovative destination. 

 

 TTIA Travel & Tourism College 

 OCCE Chamber Management Institute 

 OTIA Tourism Conference 

 



GMACC’S Tourism Program Highlights 

2017/2018 

 

3 
 

 Convention recruitment efforts are a central focus, with an annual subscription to an online 

database of contact information for Organizations and their meeting planners across the United 

States. 

 

 In an effort to foster and promote growth in our relationships with Attractions in Muskogee, we have 

implemented a Muskogee Attraction Directors’ Association luncheon once a month for a casual 

discussion about our collective approach to tourism. 

 

 We joined and contributed to the legislative efforts to stop the Highway 69 bypass and have 

focused on becoming a recognizable presence at the Capitol as representatives of Muskogee 

tourism. 

 

 We are still researching our options for digital visitor tracking. Unfortunately, the technology is still 

developing and quite costly. We are vigilantly searching for an affordable solution. 

 

Plans for 2018/2019 

 A partnership with the Merle Haggard estate with exclusive rights and access to his likeness for 

merchandise and marketing purposes 

 A new format for our Large Special Projects program that focuses on 2-3 large scale events, with 

earmarked funds for event specific advertisement 

 A focus on convention recruitment with funds earmarked for recruiting and incentivizing bringing 

these meetings and events to Muskogee 

 Continued partnership with the City of Muskogee on planning and executing Phase II of the 

Wayfinding Signage project 

 Welcoming back the Adams Pro Tour pro golf tournament for a second year 

 

 



   
Regular City Council 11.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Initiator: Tammy Tracy, City Clerk
Department: City Clerk
Staff Information Source:

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Consider approval to renumber the following resolutions: "A Resolution Approving and Adopting a Best
Practices Handbook for Oklahoma Municipalities" from Resolution No. 2732 to Resolution No. 2734, as
previously approved by the City Council on June 25, 2018, and "A Resolution Authorizing Participation
in the OMAG Recognition Program" from Resolution No. 2733 to Resolution No. 2735, as previously
approved by City Council on July 9, 2018, or take other necessary action. (Roy Tucker)

BACKGROUND:
Due to an error, two resolutions recently adopted were inadvertently assigned the same resolution
number. Therefore, this item is necessary to correct the numbering of said resolutions.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the assignment of a new resolution numbers.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
RES2734 - Best Practices Handbook 
RES2735 - OMAG Rec Pro 



RESOLUTION  NO. 2732 2734 

 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING A BEST PRACTICES 

HANDBOOK FOR  OKLAHOMA MUNICIPALITIES. 

WHEREAS, the City Council of City of Muskogee desires to adopt a best practices handbook, 

providing for a one-stop  resource  of  relevant  Council  Policies,  practices,  ordinances, and excerpts  

of state law,  all  for  use by its members; 

WHEREAS, the City Council  of the  City  of Muskogee  finds  that  having  such  a  resource 

wi l be  beneficial  tool  in  ensuring  public  transparency,  council  accountability  and  engagement  in the  

operations  of the City,  as well  as, staff responsibility. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF MUSKOGEE, MUSKOGEE COUNTY,  OKLAHOMA: 

SECTION  1. The  Best Practices  Handbook  of the  City of Muskogee is  hereby adopted. 
 

 

ADOPTED  THIS  25th  23rd DAY OF June July, 2018. 
 

 

CITY OF MUSKOGEE 
 

 

 
 

JOHN R. COBURN, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 
 

TAMMY L. TRACY, CITY CLERK 

 

 
(SEAL) 

 

Approved as to form and legality  this  25
th 

day of June, 2018 23rd day of July, 2018. 
 

 

 

 
 

ROY D. TUCKER, CITY ATTORNEY 



RESOLUTION NO. 2733 2735 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING PARTICIPATION IN THE OMAG 
RECOGNITION PROGRAM 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Muskogee believes the best run  municipalities  have  fewer 

liability claims and the claims they have place fewer demands on municipal resources; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Muskogee participates in the Municipal  Liability  Protection 
Plan provided by OMAG (the Oklahoma Municipal Assurance Group);   and 

 
WHEREAS, OMAG is the City of Muskogee’s provider of insurance and risk 

management  solutions; and 
 

WHEREAS, OMAG has established a program to recognize member municipalities 
which have committed themselves to obtaining training  above  and  beyond the legally 
required training and  which  have  taken certain actions  which show that the member is 
committed to operating under  certain  best  practice recommendations; and 

 
WHEREAS, during  the current  fiscal year: 

 
° Each member of the governing body received, either in person or by 

distance learning, the training required for participation in the OMAG 
recognition program; and 

° The  governing  body has adopted a governing  body handbook or, if a 
handbook had previously been adopted, the body has reviewed and 
updated the handbook to reflect the best practice recommendations from 
OMAG; and 

° Each member of the  governing body completed the OMAG recommended 
Stability Test and the results of the test were reviewed by the governing 
body to self-audit its performance;  and 

° The governing  body reviewed the  Declarations and Explanation of 
Coverage page for its liability policy with OMAG; and 

 
WHEREAS, due to the above actions by the  governing  body and its members,  the 

City of Muskogee is now eligible to participate in the OMAG Recognition program. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE THAT 
THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE REQUESTS THAT IT BE CONSIDERED FOR 
PARTICIPATION IN THE OMAG RECOGNITION PROGRAM. 

 
ADOPTED by the City of Muskogee of Muskogee, Oklahoma, after  full compliance 

with the Oklahoma Open Meeting  Act. 



 

  _ 
JOHN R. COBURN, CHAIRMAN 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
TAMMY L. TRACY,  CITY CLERK 
(seal) 

 
 
 
APPROVED as to form and legality this  _ day of _  , 2018. 

 
 
 
 
 

ROY D. TUCKER, CITY ATTORNEY 



   
Regular City Council 12. a.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Submitted For: Kelly Plunkett, Personnel 
Initiator: Kelly Plunkett, Director of Human Resources 
Department: Personnel
Staff Information Source: Kelly Plunkett 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive Session to
discuss negotiations with the Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge No. 95, and if necessary, take appropriate
action in open session. (Kelly Plunkett)

BACKGROUND:
The City’s negotiating team desires to discuss with the Mayor and City Council the ongoing
negotiations with the FOP, Lodge No. 95. The City Council should determine that disclosure of ongoing
negotiations between the City and the FOP will seriously impair the ability of the City to continue
negotiations. Therefore, the Council should convene in executive session to discuss this matter.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Pursuant to Section 307B.2, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, convene in executive session to discuss
negotiations with the Fraternal Order of Police, Lodge No. 95, and if necessary, take appropriate action
in open session.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Regular City Council 12. b.           
Meeting Date: 07/23/2018  
Initiator: Gary Garvin, Planning Director
Department: Planning
Staff Information Source: Gary D. Garvin, Director of Planning & Economic Development 

Information
AGENDA ITEM TITLE:
Pursuant to Section 307 B.3 and C.10, Title 25, Oklahoma Statutes, consider convening in Executive
Session to discuss the purchase of real property, as well as, to confer on matters pertaining to an
economic development project within the City of Muskogee, and if necessary, take appropriate action in
open session. (Gary D. Garvin)

 

BACKGROUND:
The Director of Planning and Economic Development desires to discuss with City Council the purchase
of certain parcels of real property located within the City of Muskogee, as well as, confer on matters
pertaining to economic development.  The Director further notifies the Council that public disclosure of
the matter discussed would interfere with the development of the project.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Convene in Executive Session for purposes of discussing the purchase of real property located within
the City of Muskogee, and take any necessary action in open session.

Fiscal Impact

Attachments
No file(s) attached.


	Agenda
	___7527
	    07-09-2018 ccmin
	_ 1.  _C.01.__7504
	    Claims List
	_ 2.  _C.02._2017 Justice Assitance Grant
	    2017 JAG Award
	    Signed MOU Agreement
	_ 3.  _C.03._FM Global Fire Prevention Grant
	    Fire Prevention Grant
	    Fire Prevention Grant Award Letter
	_ 4.  _C.04._City of Muskogee Foundation Board Appointment
	_ 5.  _C.05._Appointment to War Memorial
	_ 6.  _C.06._Micro Surfacing Project
	    Bid Schedule
	_ 7.  _C.07._Emergency Building Roof
	    Tabulation Sheet
	Regular_ 8.  _C.08._Muskogee Housing Authority Board Reappointment
	    Jack Farr
	_ 9.  _C.09._Fine and Costs for Speed Limit Violations of 10 or Less
	    4051-A Speed Limit Violation Fees
	Regular_ 10.  _C.10._Tourism Annual Report to Council
	    Tourism Highlights
	Regular_ 11.  _C.11._Resolution Number Reassignment
	    RES2734 - Best Practices Handbook
	    RES2735 - OMAG Rec Pro
	RESOLUTION NO. 2733 2735
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE THAT THE CITY OF MUSKOGEE REQUESTS THAT IT BE CONSIDERED FOR PARTICIPATION IN THE OMAG RECOGNITION PROGRAM.

	Executive Session_ 12. a. _C.12.a._FOP MOU
	Executive Session_ 12. b. _C.12.b._Economic Development

